
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL 

 
Thursday, 25th July, 2019 

 
10.00 am 

 
Darent Room - Sessions House 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 





 
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL 
 

Thursday, 25th July, 2019, at 10.00 am Ask for: Theresa Grayell 
Darent Room - Sessions House   
 Telephone 03000 416172 

Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting  
 

Membership  
 
Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Ida Linfield (Vice-Chairman), Ms J Bayford, Ms D Bride, 
Mr T Byrne, Ms K Constantine, Mr G Cooke, Mr T Doran, Ms S Dunstan, Mrs L Game, 
Ms C Goodwin, Mr R Graves, Mr S Gray, Mr S Griffiths, Ms S Hamilton, Mrs S Hammond, 
Mr A Heather, Mr G Lymer, Mr M J Northey, Mrs S Prendergast, Ms N Sayer, Ms C Smith, 
Ms S Vaux, rep, Vacancy and carer 
 

 
UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 

(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public) 
 

  
The Chairman will assume that all Members will read the reports before attending the 
meeting.  Officers are asked to assume the same when introducing reports. 
 
 

1 Apologies and substitutes  

2 Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 29 May 2019 (Takeover Day) 
(Pages 5 - 14) 

3 Chairman's Announcements  

4 Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC)  

5 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member (Pages 15 - 16) 

6 Challenge Card Update (Pages 17 - 20) 

7 Performance Scorecard for Children in Care (Pages 21 - 30) 



8 Kent Fostering Service Annual Report 2018 / 2019 & Kent Fostering Service 
Business Plan 2019 (Pages 31 - 82) 

9 Review of Corporate Parenting Pilot Scheme: KCC acting as a rent guarantor for 
Care Leavers including accommodation types (Pages 83 - 90) 

10 Narrowing the attainment gap between Children in Care and their peers (Pages 
91 - 94) 

 

EXEMPT ITEMS 

(At the time of preparing the agenda, there were no exempt items During any such items 
which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public) 

Benjamin Watts 
General Counsel 
03000 416814 
 
 
Wednesday, 17 July 2019 
 
Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report. 
 
 



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Council Chamber - 
Sessions House on Wednesday, 29 May 2019. 
 
PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Ms J Bayford, Ms D Bride, Mr T Byrne, 
Mr I S Chittenden (Substitute for Ida Linfield), Mr G Cooke, Mr T Doran, 
Ms S Dunstan, Ms C Goodwin, Mr R Graves, Mr S Gray, Ms S Hamilton, 
Mrs S Hammond, Mr A Heather, Mr G Lymer, Mr M J Northey, Mrs S Prendergast, 
Ms N Sayer and Ms C Smith 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Mr R W Gough, Ms R Hills, Ms J Carpenter, Ms S Newman and 
Ms A Wood, Alex, Amy, Ashley, Bradley, Brooke, Charlotte, Charmaine, Chris, 
Fatima, George, Joseph, Josh, Kaziah, Keagan, Kezzie, Lainee, Martin, Rebecca, 
Reza, Rob, Ronnie, Ruby, Shaniya, Sharand, Tabatha, Tia and Tibletse.   
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mr M Dunkley CBE (Corporate Director for Children Young 
People and Education), Mrs S Skinner (Head of Adoption Service) and 
Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
149. Introduction  
(Item 1) 
 
1. Before the start of the meeting, young people had met the Panel members and 
officers with whom they had been matched for shadowing and had taken part 
together in an ice-breaker challenge. 
 
2. The Panel Chairman, Ann Allen, welcomed everyone to the meeting and 
announced that Kent’s Corporate Parenting Panel was the first in the country to have 
a Takeover Day. She introduced Brad from the Young Adult Council who took over 
as Chairman for the rest of the meeting.   
 
3. Everyone introduced themselves around the Council Chamber.   
 
150. Membership  
(Item 2) 
 
It was noted that Justin Dumigan had resigned from the Panel, making the total 
number of vacancies three. 
 
151. Apologies and substitutes  
(Item 3) 
 
Apologies for absence had been received from Stuart Griffiths, Ida Linfield and Sarah 
Vaux.  
 
Ian Chittenden was present as a substitute for Ida. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 

 
152. Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 27 March 2019  
(Item 4) 
 
It was RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 27 March 2019 are 
correctly recorded and they be signed by the Chairman. There were no matters 
arising.   
 
153. Chairman's Announcements  
(Item 5) 
 
Chelsea Goodwin (Apprentice Participation Worker, Virtual School Kent) announced 
three dates for Panel members’ diaries:  
 

 25 July – Corporate Parenting Team Challenge Day at Teston Country Park, 
which Panel members were invited to attend; 

 

 Annual VSK Awards Ceremonies in the evenings of 15 September and 16 
October, of which, more details would be sent out shortly.  

 
154. Verbal Update from Super Council, Our Children and Young People's 
Council and Young Adult Council  
(Item 6) 
 
1. The Chairman introduced members of the three Children in Care Councils, 
who, with Sophia Dunstan (Participation Support Assistant, Virtual School Kent) gave 
verbal updates on their work:  
 
Super Council: 
2. The Council had spent some time at its meetings discussing what its members 
wanted to do as part of the Takeover Day. Ronnie, Ruby, Kezzie and Rebecca spoke 
about how much they enjoyed attending the Super Council meetings and how it 
helped them to meet other children and young people in care and share their 
experiences and problems.  
 
Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC): 
3. The OCYPC had discussed the ‘Language that Cares’ document which had 
been put together by young people for the Fostering and Adoption Charity, TACT, 
and which suggested alternative words to those usually used by social work 
professionals.   
 
4. The Council had also worked on a school project about young people’s 
emotional mental health and wellbeing and what support young people wanted to be 
able to access at school. Some very good ideas had come out of this and were being 
worked on by the VSK team to make sure that young people’s ideas were put into 
practice.   
 
5. Keagan and Tabatha spoke about why they were members of the OCYPC, 
including having the opportunity to spend some time in an environment which was 
not like school, to talk about their views and feelings in a safe environment and have 
fun with other young people, and to help them understand about being in care.      
 

Page 6



 

Young Adult Council (YAC):  
6. The membership of this was continuing to grow and the meetings were being 
attended by the UASC Peer Champions. Tia talked about why she attended the 
meetings, how she believed the YAC benefitted children and young people in care 
and why she wished she had known about the various Children in Care Councils 
earlier. 
 
Cambridge University Study Day with sons and daughters of foster carers  
7. On 16 April, an activity day took place in Tonbridge to look into the 
experiences of birth children in foster families, how prepared they felt and how they 
formed relationships with the children fostered by their families, and how they felt the 
County Council could support them.  Amy spoke about how she enjoyed meeting the 
children fostered by their families and having younger siblings to play with.  She 
thought there should be more foster carers for teenagers as her family received lots 
of requests to do this. Participants at the activity day had agreed on the importance of 
everyone in a foster family discussing and agreeing each placement, felt that they 
could be included in training new foster carers and could get to know the family’s 
social worker. It had also been suggested that social workers could take fostered 
children out on an outing to give the children of foster families time to prepare for 
important school tests.  
 
8. Joseph spoke about how he enjoyed his family fostering as they had a chance 
to meet new people and give them an opportunity. The biggest shock in fostering was 
people’s back stories. He and his brother were always included in discussions about 
fostering and each time a child moved out they had a family discussion about what 
had gone well and what could be done differently. He and his brother would help 
fostered children with school issues and act as role models to them.  An upsetting 
aspect of fostering was how long it could take for fostered children to have their 
belongings sent on from their previous placement.  
 
9. The VSK participation team was looking into working with fostering colleagues 
to address the issues raised.   
 
10. New corporate parenting information flyers were tabled at the meeting. These 
had been prepared with input from young people to help other young people to 
understand the role of corporate parents.  
 
11. It was RESOLVED that the verbal updates be noted, with thanks. 
 
155. Verbal Update by Cabinet Member  
(Item 7) 
 
1. The Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Education, Roger 
Gough, gave a verbal update on the following issues:-  
 
Foster Care Fortnight – this had taken place on 13 - 26 May.  The fostering service 
was currently seeking to recruit 150 more foster carers and was using local media 
and social media to support this.     
Council Tax Exemption for Care Leavers – this had been debated and supported 
by the County Council at its meeting on 23 May 2019.  He had spoken about the 
Challenge Card on this subject which had previously been submitted by young 
people and the work they had done to promote this.  

Page 7



 

Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC) Update – there were currently 
267 UASC under 18 and 895 over-18 care leavers, making a total of 1,162. There 
had been 84 new arrivals so far in 2019, more than at the same point in 2018. The 
countries from which most young people had travelled were Iran, Iraq and Eritrea. 
The Panel had met the UASC Peer Champions team at its March meeting and had 
heard about their work. The County Council had lobbied the Government for years 
about the lack of financial support given to Kent to support its UASC population and 
had recently received a positive response, which was good.  
 
2. It was RESOLVED that the verbal update be noted, with thanks.     
 
156. Challenge Card update  
(Item 8) 
 
1. Caroline Smith (Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting) and Jo Carpenter 
(Participation and Engagement Manager, VSK) updated the Panel on the progress of 
the most recent Challenge Card, a Council Tax Exemption for Care Leavers.  
 
2. Caroline explained that she had researched figures from district and borough 
councils and passed them initially to Roger Gough and Matt Dunkley (Corporate 
Director of Children, Young People and Education).  These figures would be used to 
prepare reports to district councils and then the County Council to seek sign-up.   Jo 
added that care leavers had been very pleased that the proposal had been taken so 
seriously.   
 
3. Tia told the Panel about what it would mean to her as a young person at the 
start of her career to be exempt from paying Council Tax.  It would leave her more 
money to run her car, have some leisure and take a holiday. Care Leavers sought a 
smooth transition into adulthood and to exempt them from paying Council Tax would 
make all the difference to them achieving this.  
 
4. It was RESOLVED that the update on progress be welcomed.   
 
157. Performance Scorecard for Children in Care  
(Item 9) 
 
1. Chris Nunn (Senior Management Information Officer) and Rob (Apprentice 
Participation Worker, Virtual School Kent) introduced the report and Rob set out what 
he had learned from working with the Management Information Unit to draw up the 
scorecard document.  He drew attention to parts of the scorecard which would be of 
particular interest to young people:  
 

 64.4% of the care leavers that the County Council was in touch with were in 
education, employment or training. This figure was steady but was just below 
the target figure of 65%; 

 

 91.9% of the care leavers that the County Council was in touch with were 
housed in suitable accommodation, above the target rate of 90%; and  

 

 56.5% of children who had been in care for at least 18 months had had the 
same worker for the last 12 months.  This was improving and was not far from 
the target of 60%. 

Page 8



 

 
2. Matt Dunkley suggested that, once a year, a version of the score card could 
be prepared in a clear, modern format for young people to understand. It was further 
suggested that this could be put to the officers as a formal challenge card.  Martin, 
acting as Corporate Director, accepted this challenge.  
 
3. It was RESOLVED that the performance data in the Children in Care 

scorecard be noted.         
 
158. The Kent Adoption Service's Participation and Engagement Strategy  
(Item 10) 
 
1. Charmaine and George presented the report on behalf of the post-adoption 
service and outlined the participation events which already took place. They set out 
the many benefits to young people of them attending events.  
 
2. They then shared with the Panel a film of a young woman in care, K, who was 
reading out a letter she had sent to Edward Timpson, setting out her experience of 
the adoption process.  She set out the support she would like to have had from 
teachers at her school and what advice she would give to other young people going 
through the adoption process.  Panel members praised the frank way in which she 
had set out her points and the courage she had shown in reading out the letter on 
film to share it with others.  

 
3. Asked if it would be possible to produce a version of the film which could be 
shared publicly, covering all the same points but without identifying the young 
woman, Sarah Skinner (Head of Adoption Service) advised that K had agreed that 
the current version be shared with the VSK and used in teacher training but not 
shared publicly.  Tony Doran (Head Teacher, Virtual School Kent) added that he was 
looking into whether or not it would be possible to produce a publishable version, and 
how this could be done, and also how the current version could be used in training 
adoptive parents and post-adoption staff. He undertook to report back on this to a 
future meeting of the Panel.   
 
4. It was RESOLVED that the information set out in the report about the range of 

services provided be noted.    
 
159. Review of Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy, 2019 - 
2022  
(Item 11) 
 
1. Christy Holden, Senior Commissioning Manager, and Reece Graves, Senior 
Apprentice Participation Worker, introduced the report and Reece highlighted the 
parts of the Strategy which had been identified by young people as being most 
important to them.    
 
2. It was RESOLVED that the information set out in the report be noted and that 

the Kent County Council Sufficiency Strategy, 2019 – 2022, be endorsed. 
 
160. Transition to the 18+ service and the role of the Personal Advisor  
(Item 12) 
 

Page 9



 

1. The Chairman introduced the first of the agenda items to be added by the 
Young Adult Council, which set out the number and range of issues with which young 
people leaving care had to contend.  Caroline Smith was asked to stand at the front 
of the Chamber and have balloons batted across to her, each with a subject written 
on it – for example, study, travel, budgeting, cooking, etc – to represent the range of 
issues which needed to be juggled by care leavers. As more balloons were added, it 
became impossible to keep all of them aloft and help from other attendees had to be 
requested.  This illustrated that care leavers needed help to manage all of these 
issues effectively.  
 
2. Charlotte set out some of the challenges faced by care leavers, including 
finding out about tenancy agreements, living alone for the first time and the anxiety 
that could bring, managing bills, and signing up with doctors, dentists and opticians, 
etc. To have good support with these things was important, so the Personal Advisor 
role was vital, and Fatima, Alex and Charlotte set out the attributes a good Personal 
Advisor should have. Chris talked about his Personal Advisor and how she supported 
him, including listening to him and respecting his views, caring about his aims and 
wishes, being tough when she needed to be and helping him to understand things.  

 
3. Charlotte set out three questions which the YAC wanted to ask the Corporate 
Parenting Panel:  

 
a) We see the Personal Advisor as playing an important role in our futures – we 

would like to meet them and get to know them earlier which would help young 

people build stronger relationships with them.   It would also help young people 

to understand pathway planning and be surer of their future steps.  Could the 

age at which young people meet their future Personal Advisor be lowered? 

 

4. Paul Startup (Service Manager, Quality Assurance and Safeguarding) 
responded by explaining that the 18+ team had been reviewing the transition process 
to make it better and had changed their practice to arrange for a care leaver to meet 
their Personal Advisor at 17 to allow joint planning sessions and to help a young 
person to understand how the service could help them.  He said he hoped that all 
Personal Advisors were like the one described by Chris. The initial meeting between a 
care leaver and their Personal Advisor could be brought forward to 16 but it was 
important then to consider how the process would look and how the preparation for 
leaving care could best be achieved.  
  

b) How is the 18+ Service making sure Personal Advisors have the specialist 

knowledge and training to ensure they can support young people as well as 

possible?  

 

5. Paul explained that the service would seek to ensure that it recruited the best 
people and the right people. The training of Personal Advisors was very thorough and 
followed a programme which included close management supervision.  New Personal 
Advisors would then serve a six-month trial period to see if they were able to meet the 
requirements of the role.  It was important to consider how feedback from young 
people about the Personal Advisor service could best be gathered and applied.  Sarah 
Skinner added that the Childcare Workforce Academy aimed to provide skills for staff 
who were not qualified social workers, including social work assistants and early help 
workers. It was important to recognise the importance of this part of the workforce.    

Page 10



 

       
c) We believe that matching young people to the Personal Advisor is very 

important – how do you go about doing this matching?  
 

6. Paul advised that matching was sometimes difficult as the young person and 
their Personal Advisor could be working together for a number of years and the 
relationship was important.  He undertook to look into how the matching process 
could be improved. 
 
161. Youth Justice Apprentice - Role and Future Plans  
(Item 13) 
 
1. Josh, the Youth Justice Apprentice, talked about the role he had taken on in 
January 2019 and his aim to serve as the voice of young people in Kent who were 
caught up in the youth justice system. He would do this by attending meetings of 
Kent’s Youth Justice Board. As youth clubs had been closed across the country, 
some young people had turned to anti-social behaviour, and many young people 
across the UK were feeling let down by the police and the courts. His aim was that all 
young people would be valued and feel valued.   
 
2. Dan Bride (Assistant Director, Adolescent and Open Access) added that youth 
workers met with young people to ask them what support services they wanted to 
have in terms of dealing with issues around drugs and crime.  The Police and Crime 
Commissioner, Matthew Scott, was seeking to roll out such services across the 
whole county with the aim of reaching young people who were usually hard to reach. 
The Youth Justice Apprentice role would be instrumental in achieving this.   

 
3. Ann Allen suggested that it would be helpful to invite Matthew Scott to a future 
meeting of the Panel, and this was subsequently added to the work programme.  
 
162. The County Council's Corporate Parenting responsibilities - are they 
aspirational enough?  
(Item 14) 
 
1. Reece Graves introduced this item and explained that it had come about from 
various meetings and discussions at Children in Care Councils and focus groups. 
These had looked at how the County Council was supporting children in care to 
achieve their goals and aspirations. Martin then introduced the six key themes of the 
Kent Pledge to Children in Care:  

 A sense of belonging, 

 An adult who is always there for you, 

 A good education, 

 Good memories for the future,  

 Getting ready for being an adult, and  

 Championing your needs and interests,  

which together made up the strong foundations and values which sought to ensure 
that all children in care could achieve their aspirations, however big or small.  

2. Kaziah, Tabatha, Martin, Tibletse and Reza then spoke about their aspirations 
for the future.  They set out how the County Council had helped them in the past, for 
example by paying for extra tutoring to help them pass SATS after missing out on 

Page 11



 

schooling, and how their foster carers were helping them to prepare and study for the 
future career routes they wished to follow.  They also set out what more could be 
done to support and help young people:  

 Increasing the number of UASC Champions across the county  

 Increasing support and training for foster carers around different cultures  

 Wherever possible, placing young people with foster carers who speak the 

same language  

 Moving young people out of the Millbank centre faster  

 Issuing young people with train passes to help them travel more easily around 

the county 

 Offering free gym membership in more locations across the county  

 Showing young people that the County Council is proud of their achievements 

  

3. Tony Doran was asked to write on a whiteboard the dreams and goals he had 
when he was young; he wrote down a wish to play sports professionally. He was then 
asked who had helped him to try to achieve that goal; he wrote down his PE 
teachers. All the young people present were them asked to write down on their 
whiteboards their goals and aspirations.  These included a wide range of careers and 
studies, including medicine and nursing, the arts, teaching, etc. Panel members were 
then asked to say how they, as corporate parents, were contributing to helping young 
people to achieve those goals.  
 
4. In response to the final bullet point above, Tony pointed out that VSK held 
celebration events twice a year, for under-16s and over-16s, to present awards to 
young people who had achieved good academic, sporting or other performance.  
 
5. The Cabinet Member, Roger Gough, added that the County Council needed to 
keep asking itself how it was performing against the six key themes of its Pledge to 
Children in Care and what more it could do. Meetings of the Panel were a useful way 
of measuring the progress made, to hear at first hand where improvement was 
needed and to hear young people’s views about how improvement could be 
achieved.     
 
163. Social Media - the Big Debate  
(Item 15) 
 
1. The Chairman introduced the final agenda item and explained that this had 
been selected as social media was constantly in the news and views on its good and 
bad points were often discussed. Reece Graves and Chelsea Goodwin then 
introduced the case for and against social media, highlighting its benefits and risks.    
 
2. Reece set out its benefits, including the many different forms it took, its value 
in giving young people a voice and an opportunity to express their views, and that it 
could be used free of cost. 
 
3. Chelsea set out the case against it, including the risk of addiction to it and its 
potentially damaging effect on the development of children’s brains, its deceptive 
nature, where people can appear to be what they are not, and cyberbullying.  
 

Page 12



 

4. These views were then debated, with people arguing for and against social 
media as a good thing for young people; 
 
FOR, ie that social media is a good thing for young people – 35 
 
AGAINST, ie that social media is a negative thing for young people – 13 
 
ABSTENTIONS – 4 
 
5. Accordingly, it was RESOLVED that the use of social media is a good thing for 

young people.  
     
164. Conclusion  
(item 16) 
 
1. At the end of the meeting the Chairman thanked everyone for attending and 
asked if people wished to repeat the event, which was met with an emphatic YES.  
 
2. The Panel Chairman, Ann Allen, also thanked everyone for attending. She 
said that, while listening to the young people present, she had been reminded of a 
song by M People ‘What have you done today to make you feel proud?‘ and said that 
the young people who had taken part and spoken up so well had indeed made her 
feel very proud.   
 
 
 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
By:  Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 

Education. 
 
 
To:  Corporate Parenting Panel – 25 July 2019 
 
 
Subject:  Verbal Update by the Cabinet Member  
 
 
Classification: Unrestricted 
 

 

 

 

The Panel is invited to note verbal updates on the following issues:- 
 

 

1. Update on Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC) & funding initiatives 
2. Housing related support 
 
 

 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education 
 

 Matt Dunkley, CBE, Corporate Director of Children, Young People and 
Education 
 

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 25th July 2019 
 

Subject: Challenge card update 
 

Classification: Unrestricted 
 

 

Summary: This report provides Members with an overview of the progress made 
on the current challenge cards that our young people have made to 
KCC, in our role as Corporate Parents.  
 

Recommendation: The Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the 
challenge card progress to date and to support the actions being taken 
to meet the challenges. 

 

1. Previous Challenge: Council Tax Exemption 

 In March 2019, The Young Adult Council raised the challenge: 

 That all Kent Care Leavers living in Kent should be exempt from paying 
Council Tax (until the age of 25). 

1.1 Background 

 The Children and Social Work Act (2017) implemented on 1st April 2018, places 
corporate parenting responsibilities on district councils for the first time, requiring 
them to have regard to children in care and care leavers when carrying out their 
functions. Councils have the power to introduce exemptions for council tax for certain 
groups under section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

 Corporate Parenting is a statutory function of the Council with the underlying 
principle that every local authority will seek the same outcomes for children and 
young people in care that every good parent would want for their own children; for 
example, successful transition to young adulthood and financial independence. 

 Care leavers can find themselves grappling with the challenges of living 
independently; managing a household, continuing education or seeking employment, 
as well as managing their personal finances and paying household bills for the first 
time, often on a very low income and without the support of family or previous 
financial education to help them navigate this. This can make care leavers a 
particularly vulnerable group when it comes to the collection of council tax when 
moving into independent accommodation. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



 Further evidence shows spiralling debt and the threat to their tenancies are amongst 
the biggest issues in care leaver’s lives, often leading to abandonment and tenancy 
loss, making it extremely difficult for young people to access accommodation at a 
later stage. This can have a great impact on not only the young person’s health and 
wellbeing but the wider community i.e. homelessness, health, crime and the prison 
service. 

1.2 An exemption in council tax would further enhance Kent County Council’s offer to its 
care leavers, alongside the KCC Rent Guarantor Scheme. 

1.3 KCC accepted this challenge and agreed to investigate further the proposal that care 
leavers who are the responsibility of KCC, living in Kent and are aged 18 to 25 years 
would be exempt from paying council tax. 

2. Challenge Card Progress: 

 Lead officers from Kent County Council presented to the Senior Finance Officers for 
the Kent Housing Districts to engage in initial discussions about the proposal for a 
council tax exemption for Care Leavers as part of the responsibilities as a Corporate 
Parent.  

2.1 The current research and financial data to support the Challenge card has been 
completed. 

2.2 Data and Financial Implications 

 Data as of 1st April 2019 shows that Kent County Council has 1,560 open case care 
leavers aged between 18-25 years. Of this 1,560, there are 984 (63%) living 
independently in Kent and we estimate 465 living in Kent have a council tax liability 
and pay full or part council tax. 

2.3 Kent Care Leavers Data 

 Total number of care leavers    1,560 

 Number of care leavers living in Kent   1,182 

 Number of care leavers living independently in Kent 984 

 Number of care leavers not liable to pay council tax   519 

 Number of care leavers paying council tax  465 

 Council tax paid by Care Leavers    £513,229 

 

2.4 Kent County Council will propose to the 12 District Councils, that they agree an 
exemption of council tax payments for Kent Care Leavers using their power for 
exemptions to be made for certain vulnerable groups, under section 13A of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992. 

 

Page 18



 Kent County Council will work with the 12 Kent District Councils and the Kent Police 
and Crime Commissioner to seek to agree that all authorities bear their share of the 
full discount and that a uniform scheme can be implemented across Kent. 

2.5 A motion was presented by elected Member Ida Linfield, to the full County Council 
Meeting on 23rd May 2019 that: 

 “The  council  notes  the  disadvantage  that  care  leavers  have  when 

transitioning  into  adult  life  and  therefore  resolves  to  engage  with 

each  of  Kent’s  twelve  district  councils  and  ask  for  their  relevant 

committees  to  consider  and  agree  to  provide  a  100%  council  tax discount to 

care leavers who meet the following criteria:   

 Have been in the care of Kent County Council (as Corporate Parent) for a period 

of at least 13 weeks since the age of 14 

 

 Are under the age of 25 

 

 Reside within Kent 

 

 The motion was seconded by elected Member Trudy Dean and agreed by the full 
council meeting, with work to progress through the Corporate Parenting Panel.  

2.6 Roger Gough met with Caroline Smith, Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting on 
24th June 2019, to plan the work and how to progress the challenge card. The next 
stage is planned meetings with the District Council leaders and Chief Executives.  

3.  New Challenge Cards: 

 There are no further challenge cards issued at this point 

 

Recommendation:  
 
The  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the challenge card progress to 

date and to support the actions being taken to meet the challenges. 

 
4. Background documents 
County Council Meeting – 23 May 2019 
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=113&MId=7896&Ver=4 

 
5. Contact details 

 
Lead Officer 
Caroline Smith  
Assistant Director of Corporate Parenting 
03000 415 091 
Caroline.Smith@kent.gov.uk  

Lead Director 
Sarah Hammond 
Director of Integrated Children’s Services East 
(Social Work Lead) 
03000 411 488 
Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk  

 

Page 19

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=113&MId=7896&Ver=4
mailto:Caroline.Smith@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



From:    Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People  
                                  and Education 
 
    Matt Dunkley, CBE, Corporate Director of Children, Young  
                                      People and Education 
 

To:  Corporate Parenting Panel – 25
th

 July 2019 
 

Subject: PERFORMANCE SCORECARD FOR CHILDREN IN CARE 

Classification:  Unrestricted 
 

Electoral Divisions: All 
 

 

Summary: 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation: 

 
The performance Scorecard for Children in Care identifies the key 
performance data and targets that need to be monitored to 
promote the best outcomes for children and young people looked 
after by Kent County Council. The latest performance Scorecard 
for April 2019 is attached to this report.   
 

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 

and COMMENT on the performance data in the Children in Care 
scorecard. 
 

 

1. Introduction  
 

1.1 Performance scorecards have been developed to identify and monitor progress  
on a range of areas where improvements in performance and practice will lead 
to better outcomes for children and young people. 

 
1.2 This report includes the latest Children in Care Scorecard which is for April 

2019.   
 
 

2. Context 
 

2.1 The Children in Care Scorecard has been developed to provide the Corporate 
Parenting Panel with an overview of the key performance measures for 
Children in Care.  

 
2.2 The report is split into sections and includes a range of performance indicators 

and activity information.  
 
2.3 The Children in Care Scorecard is currently focused on information provided by 

Children’s Social Care Services.  It is intended that performance reports from 
partners will also be shared with Corporate Parenting Panel so that 
performance issues can be further understood across organisations resulting in 
improved outcomes for children and young people. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7



3.     Summary of Performance – April 2019 
  
3.1 The report contains key statistics and performance results against the targets 

for 26 Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), which are assessed using a 
Red/Amber/Green (RAG) Status.   

 
3.2  Of the 26 KPIs included in the report, the RAG status for April 2019 is as 

follows: 

 15 are rated Green – target achieved or exceeded 

 11 are rated Amber – below target but above floor standard 

 0 are rated Red – below floor standard 
 
3.3 The CIC Scorecard submitted to the previous Corporate Parenting Panel on 

29
th

 May 2019 was for March 2019.  During the period between the two reports 
the RAG status of 2 KPIs has changed, the details of which are provided 
below.   

  

 3.3.1 Average number of days between court authority to place a child 

for Adoption and the decision on a match. The average number of 
days increased from 121 days to 125 days between March 19 and 
April 19.  The nationally set target for this measure is 121 days.   
Kent’s performance has moved just above the target and as a result 
the RAG banding has moved from Green to Amber.   

 

 3.3.2  Percentage of Care Leavers with a Pathway Plan updated in the 

last 6 months.  Performance against this measure dropped from 
92.2% in March 2019 to 91.3% in April 2019.  The change in RAG 
rating, from Green to Amber, is a result of the increased Target set for 
2019/20 which is 95%, compared to 90% for 2018/19. 

  
3.4 Performance against the 11 measures which have not achieved their Target is  
 as follows: 
 
 Two of the measures are covered above 3.3.1 and 3.3.2 above. 
 
 One of the previous reporting lines has been converted into a performance  
 Indicator for 2019/20. 
 

3.4.1 Percentage of children in care who ceased to be looked after who 

became subject of a Special Guardianship Order (SGO).  Whilst information 
has previously been reported on the number of SGOs a Target and RAG rating 
have been applied for 2019/20.  The 11.0% Target has been set to be in line 
with National and Statistical Neighbour performance (excluding UASC).  Kent’s 
performance for April was 8.6%, with 51 children/young people ceasing their 
care episode in the previous 12 months as a result of an SGO. Performance for 
this indicator is impacted by the success we have had in achieving early 
permanence for children through our Family Group Conference model. 
Consequently, a number of children are made subject to SGOs without 
needing to come into care. 

 

Page 22



 
 Three of the measures showed just a 0.1% decrease in performance 
 

 3.4.2 CIC Placement stability: % with 3 or more placements in the last 

12 months moved from 10.1% to 10.2%, remaining close to the 10.0% 
Target which has been set against the England average.   

  

 3.4.3 % of CIC Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Relatives and Friends 

(excluding UASC), moving from 82.3% to 82.2% and close to the 
85.0% Target.  

 

 3.4.4 % of CIC placed within 20 miles from home (excluding UASC), 
moving from 76.6% to 76.5%, which below the 80.0% Target. 

 
 Three of the measures improved from the previous month: 
 

 3.4.5    % of Care Leavers in employment, education or training (of those 

we are in touch with).  Performance improved slightly from 64.4% to 
64.6% which is now only 0.4% below the 65.0% Target.  

 

 3.4.6 % of CIC team posts filled by KCC Permanent QSW.  Performance 
improved from 77.1% to 77.8%, against a Target of 85.0%.   

 

 3.4.7 Average Caseloads of social workers in CIC Teams (District 

Teams Only). In the period between the two reports average 
caseloads decreased from 15.9 to 15.8, remaining above the target of 
15 children and young people. 

 
 The remaining two showed a decrease in performance. 
 

 3.4.8 % of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the same worker for the 

last 12 months.  Performance decreased slightly, from 56.5% to 
54.8%, which is below the Target of 60.0% 

 

 3.4.9 % of Returner Interviews completed within 3 working days for 

Children in Care.  Performance decreased slightly from 74.6% to 
76.4% against a Target of 80.0.  It should be noted that this is a locally 
set target which has been sent in the absence of any comparative data 
from other local authorities.  The completion rates for Returner 
Interviews for children in care that go missing remains high at 90.2% 
and, for some young people, undertaking a Returner Interview outside 
of 3 working days will be appropriate. 

  

 4. Recommendations 

 

4.1 Recommendations:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 

NOTE and COMMENT on the performance data in the Children in Care scorecard. 
 

 

Page 23



5. Background documents 
 

 Children in Care Scorecard – April 2019 
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s89678/Item%208%20-
%20Children%20in%20Care%20Scorecard.pdf 
 
 
 

6. Contact details 
 

 Lead Officer 
 Maureen Robinson 
 Management Information Service Manager 
 03000 417164 
 Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk 

 

 Lead Director 
 Sarah Hammond 
 Director of Integrated Children’s Services 
 03000 411488 
 sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk 

Page 24

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s89678/Item%208%20-%20Children%20in%20Care%20Scorecard.pdf
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s89678/Item%208%20-%20Children%20in%20Care%20Scorecard.pdf
mailto:Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk


Publication Date: 06 June 2019

CYPE Management Information & Intelligence

Kent Children's Social Work Services

Corporate Parenting 
Scorecard

Produced by

Apr 2019

Page 25



Guidance Notes

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the highest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the lowest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to stay close to the target that has been set.

Children in Care Numerator

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children Denominator

Becoming Looked After Special Educational Need

Other Local Authority Initial Health Assessment

Year to Date (April to March) Qualified Social Worker

Rolling 12 Months Independent Review Officer

Snapshot Placement Order

Annual Special Guardianship Order

Academic Year to Date (Sept to Aug) M Monthly Figure

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact%20Us.aspx 

R12 IRO

QSW

BLA

IHA

SEN

OLA

YTD

A green arrow indicates that performance has improved this month when compared to last month. 

Depending on the polarity of the indicator, an improvement in performance could either be a 

reduction or increase in numbers/percentage.

Denom

NumCIC

UASC

Key To Abbreviations

A red arrow indicates that performance has worsened this month when compared to last month. 

Depending on the polarity of the indicator, a worsening in performance could either be a reduction 

or increase in numbers/percentage.

An amber arrow indicates that performance has remained the same as last month.

To access the child level data underpinning the figures in this report or to request reports and/or analysis as a one off 

please log a request through the CYPE Management Information & Intelligence Performance Management site:

Some of the performance indicators on the scorecard are measured using a Year to Date (YTD) approach - April to 

the end of the current month. For the first few months, it is advisable to treat the results of these indicators with a little 

caution as they are often based on a small cohort of children and therefore the percentages can be easily skewed.   

SGO

PO

Child Level Data and Ad hoc Requests

YTD Data

AC YTD

A

SS

Direction of Travel

RAG Ratings

Polarity

T

L

H

G

A

R

No RAG Rating
RAG ratings are not applied to activity based indicators.  Also, if the denominator is lower than 5 no 

RAG rating has been applied

Floor Standard achieved but Target has not been met: Floor Standards represent the minimum 

level of acceptable performance. Floor Standards are set in Directorate Business Plans and if not 

achieved must result in management action

A red rating indicates that the current performance is signficantly away from the target set: Target 

has not been achieved

A green rating indicates that the current performance has met the target that has been set: Target 

has been achieved

Produced by: CYPE Management Information Intelligence

Publication Date: 06/06/2019 Corporate Parenting Scorecard - Apr 2019 Page 2 of 6

Page 26

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact Us.aspx


% of CIC Cases which were reviewed within required timescales H SS 99.0% G 1,539 1,555 98% 99.3% 99.3%

% of Children who participated at CIC Reviews H R12M 97.6% G 3,924 4,020 95% 97.8% 95.5%

% of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the same worker for the last 12 months H SS 54.8% A 541 988 60% 56.5% 45.3%

CIC Placement stability: % with 3 or more placements in the last 12 months L SS 10.2% A 163 1,594 10% 10.1% 11.0% 10% *

CIC Placement stability: % in same placement for last 2 years H SS 73.9% G 404 547 70% 72.5% 69.1% 70% *
% of CIC Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Rel & Friends placements (exc UASC) H SS 82.2% A 867 1,055 85% 82.3% 84.6%

% of CIC placed within 20 miles from home (exc UASC) H SS 76.5% A 955 1,248 80% 76.6% 77.4%

CIC Per 10,000 population aged under 18 (exc UASC) SS 39.8 1,337 336,090 39.8 42.8 57.8 **

Number of Kent CIC SS 1,594 1,590 1,650

Number of OLA CIC placed in Kent L SS 1,376 1,363 1,293

% of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the IRO for the last 12 months H SS 76.2% 753 988 75.0% 74.4%

% becoming looked after within 24 months of previous episode L YTD 12.0% 6 50 12.9% 9.3%

% Open to Youth Offending Services L SS 1.6% 25 1,594 1.5% 2.5%

% in P&V placements L SS 6.4% 102 1,594 6.3% 6.7%

% of Kent CIC Placed Outside of Kent (exc Medway) SS 7.0% 112 1,594 7.0% 8.0%

% of Kent CIC Placed Outside of Kent (inc Medway) L SS 12.7% 203 1,594 12.9% 14.7%

No. of current CIC with a permanent exclusion this academic year L AC YTD 1 1 0

No. on a part-time timetable L SS 14 11 14
% of CIC for at least 12mths and aged 16-18 at month end with Education Status of NEET L SS 18.6% 67 361 18.7% 15.3%

% looked after continuously for 12 months with an SEN Statement or Support/EHCP L SS
% of EHCPs Issued within 20 weeks for EHCP referrals made while child was CIC H AC YTD

% of IHA referrals within 5 working days of becoming looked after H R12M 91.5% G 356 389 90% 90.3% 83.7%

% of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 working days H R12M 85.1% G 348 409 85% 85.2% 76.5%

% of Health assessments held within required timescale H SS 95.8% G 1,490 1,556 90% 95.6% 92.9% 89.4%**

% of Dental Checks held within required timescale H SS 94.0% G 1,463 1,556 90% 92.6% 90.7% 83.4%**

% of CIC who turned 18 during the month with a health history completed H SS 100.0% G 28 28 100% 100.0% 96.2%

SDQ Average of Questionnaires Completed Since 1st April (for Current LAC) L YTD 16.1 613 38 14.1 12.9

Ave. no of days between bla and moving in with adoptive family (for children adopted) L R12M 370.0 G 32,559 88 426.0 363.4 321.6 593****
Ave. no of days between court authority to place a child and the decision on a match L R12M 124.7 A 10,602 85 121.0 120.2 107.9 190 ***
% of Children leaving care who were adopted (exc UASC) or made subject to an SGO H R12M 15.0% G 89 592 15.0% 16.1% 17.4% 14%***

% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO (exc. UASC) H R12M 8.6% A 51 592 11.0% 8.2% 6.6%

% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO H R12M 6.8% 51 753 6.4% 3.8%
% where: 8 weeks from 'adoption being made the Care Plan' to 'Agency Decision to adopt' H R12M 88.8% 71 80 84.8% 83.3%
% of sibling groups that were placed together (where the plan was to place them together) H R12M 96.2% 25 26 90.0% 78.7%

% of CIC with a current Agency Decision, not Placed for Adoption L SS 3.1% 50 1,594 2.6% 3.8%

% of Returner Interviews completed for CIC H R12M 90.2% G 1,026 1,138 90% 90.8% 89.6%

% of Returner Interviews completed within 3 working days for CIC H R12M 76.4% A 870 1,138 80% 76.5% 74.2%

Number CIC with Missing Episode started in the month L M 71 78 121

Number of CIC missing episodes started in the month lasting longer than 48 hours M 20 14 35

Complaints made by CIC (or on their behalf) during the month L M 1 2 4

% of Care Leavers in suitable accommodation (of those we are in touch with) H R12M 91.4% G 1,352 1,479 90% 91.8% 94.0% 92.2%**

% of Care Leavers in employment, education or training (of those we are in touch H R12M 64.6% A 956 1,479 65% 64.9% 66.7% 58.6%**

% of Care Leavers with a Pathway Plan updated in the last 6 months H R12M 91.3% A 1,492 1,635 95% 92.2% 96.9%

% of Care Leavers we are in contact with (inc UASC) H R12M 87.6% G 1,462 1,669 85% 87.9% 88.6% 90.6%**

% of Current Care Leavers with a Staying Put Arrangement H SS 5.1% 87 1,708 5.8% 5.0%

% of CIC Care Plans rated good or outstanding H R12M 80.9% G 3123 3858 75.0% 80.4% 73.5%

% of CIC team posts filled by KCC Permanent QSW (exc Fostering & Adoption) H SS 77.8% A 90.3 116.0 85% 77.1% 83.0%

Ave Caseloads of social workers in CIC Teams (District Teams Only) L SS 15.8 A 1,523 96.2 15.0 15.9 16.0

Ave Caseloads of IROs L SS 59.3 G 1,594 26.9 70.0 58.2 58.0

* indicates national figures from 2016/17 (LAIT)

** indicates national figures from 2016/17 (DfE Statutory returns)

*** ALB Return 2016/17

**** Statistical First Release 2016/17

Indicator

P
o

la
ri

ty Data 

Period

Latest 

Result and 

RAG Status

Num Denom

Target 

for 

19-20 N
at

io
n

al
 

P
er

fo
rm

a
n

ce
 

(E
n

gl
an

d
 R

at
e)1 month 

Apr 2019

CHILDREN

EDUCATION

HEALTH & WELLBEING

ADOPTION

1 year ago

Result

D
o

T

Result

D
o

T

Scorecard

Data not available due to new system implementation

MISSING CHILDREN

COMPLAINTS

STAFFING

CARE LEAVERS

QUALITY ASSURANCE

Produced by: CYPE Management Information Intelligence

Publication Date: 06/06/2019 Corporate Parenting Scorecard - Apr 2019 Page 3 of 6

Page 27



Current Age Female Male Grand Total Age at Period of Care Start Date Female Male Grand Total

0 22 39 61 0 32 64 96

1 12 23 35 1 25 26 51

2 13 8 21 2 23 30 53

3 6 12 18 3 29 32 61

4 12 9 21 4 38 56 94

5 9 11 20 5 45 50 95

6 13 19 32 6 62 71 133

7 20 18 38 7 46 62 108

8 14 27 41 8 46 53 99

9 31 33 64 9 37 62 99

10 34 55 89 10 31 53 84

11 40 44 84 11 35 39 74

12 40 65 105 12 31 45 76

13 53 61 114 13 31 71 102

14 53 86 139 14 29 61 90

15 69 89 158 15 34 61 95

16 81 168 249 16 33 114 147

17 90 215 305 17 5 32 37

Grand Total 612 982 1594 Grand Total 612 982 1594

Nationality Female Male Grand Total Disability* Female Male Grand Total

Afghanistani 2 55 57 Autism or Asperger's syndrome 15 67 82

Albanian 15 15 Behaviour 11 42 53

Bangladeshi 1 1 Communication 8 21 29

Belgian 1 1 Consciousness 7 10 17

British 563 689 1252 Hand Function 1 1

Bulgarian 1 1 Hearing 4 7 11

Chad 1 1 Incontinence 3 11 14

Chinese 1 1 2 Learning 26 52 78

Czech 6 1 7 Mobility 13 14 27

Egyptian 5 5 Personal Care 4 8 12

Eritrean 7 50 57 Vision 4 8 12

Ethiopian 2 2 Other DDA 8 14 22

German 1 1 None 553 838 1391

Ghana 1 1

Guinean 3 3 UASC? Female Male Grand Total

Indian 1 1 Yes 17 240 257

Iranian 34 34 No 595 742 1337

Iraqi 1 40 41 Grand Total 612 982 1594

Irish 1 3 4

Ivorian 1 1 Ethnicity Female Male Grand Total

Kenyan 1 1 A1 - White British 509 625 1134

Latvian 5 1 6 A2 - White Irish 1 1 2

Lithuanian 1 5 6 A3 - Any other White background 21 43 64

Nepalese 1 4 5 A4 - Traveller of Irish Heritage 1 1

Nigerian 1 3 4 A5 - Gypsy/Roma 7 7 14

Not Recorded 4 7 11 B1 - White and Black Caribbean 9 22 31

Polish 1 3 4 B2 - White and Black African 7 6 13

Portugese 2 1 3 B3 - White and Asian 9 9 18

Russian 2 2 B4 - Any other mixed background 19 9 28

Senegalese 1 1 C1 - Indian 4 4

Sierra Leone 2 2 C2 - Pakistani 0

Slovak 3 10 13 C3 - Bangladeshi 1 1

Slovenian 1 2 3 C4 - Any other Asian background 7 44 51

Somalian 1 1 D1 - Caribbean 1 1 2

South African 1 2 3 D2 - African 13 72 85

Sri Lankan 1 1 2 D3 - Any other Black background 2 1 3

Sudanese 17 17 E1 - Chinese 1 1 2

Syrian 2 2 E2 - Any other ethnic group 5 136 141

Thai 1 1 2 Grand Total 612 982 1594

Vietnamese 7 12 19

Grand Total 612 982 1594

Demographic Breakdown for Kent LAC as at 30/04/2019

*  If a child has more than 1 disability recorded they will be counted more than once in the table

Produced by: CYPE Management Information Intelligence

Publication Date: 06/06/2019 Corporate Parenting Scorecard - Apr 2019 Page 4 of 6

Page 28



Referrals

Trend Graphs

* Data between Sep 2013 and Mar 2014 is not available as reporting was suspended due to the implementation of a new system.

** An exercise was undertaken to re-open closed cases with care leaver status in 2016 reporting year, therefore, these figures do show an increase

1,050

1,100

1,150

1,200

1,250

1,300

1,350

1,400

Apr
14

Jul
14

Oct
14

Jan
15

Apr
15

Jul
15

Oct
15

Jan
16

Apr
16

Jul
16

Oct
16

Jan
17

Apr
17

Jul
17

Oct
17

Jan
18

Apr
18

Jul
18

Oct
18

Jan
19

Apr
19

OLA LAC in Kent over the last 5 years

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

Apr
14

Jul
14

Oct
14

Jan
15

Apr
15

Jul
15

Oct
15

Jan
16

Apr
16

Jul
16

Oct
16

Jan
17

Apr
17

Jul
17

Oct
17

Jan
18

Apr
18

Jul
18

Oct
18

Jan
19

Apr
19

% of CIC with 3+ placements in 12 months over the last 
5 years*

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

Apr
14

Jul
14

Oct
14

Jan
15

Apr
15

Jul
15

Oct
15

Jan
16

Apr
16

Jul
16

Oct
16

Jan
17

Apr
17

Jul
17

Oct
17

Jan
18

Apr
18

Jul
18

Oct
18

Jan
19

Apr
19

LAC over the last 5 years UASC

Citizen

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

Apr
14

Jul
14

Oct
14

Jan
15

Apr
15

Jul
15

Oct
15

Jan
16

Apr
16

Jul
16

Oct
16

Jan
17

Apr
17

Jul
17

Oct
17

Jan
18

Apr
18

Jul
18

Oct
18

Jan
19

Apr
19

LAC placed in KCC Foster Care over the last 5 years

0

50

100

150

200

250

May
16

Jul
16

Sep
16

Nov
16

Jan
17

Mar
17

May
17

Jul
17

Sep
17

Nov
17

Jan
18

Mar
18

May
18

Jul
18

Sep
18

Nov
18

Jan
19

Mar
19

CIC Placed Outside Kent (exc Medway)
over the last 3 years

UASC

Citizen

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

May
16

Jul
16

Sep
16

Nov
16

Jan
17

Mar
17

May
17

Jul
17

Sep
17

Nov
17

Jan
18

Mar
18

May
18

Jul
18

Sep
18

Nov
18

Jan
19

Mar
19

% Leaving Care over the last 3 years
SGO

Adoption

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

Apr
15

Jul
15

Oct
15

Jan
16

Apr
16

Jul
16

Oct
16

Jan
17

Apr
17

Jul
17

Oct
17

Jan
18

Apr
18

Jul
18

Oct
18

Jan
19

Apr
19

Care Leavers**
UASC

Citizen

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

May
16

Jul
16

Sep
16

Nov
16

Jan
17

Mar
17

May
17

Jul
17

Sep
17

Nov
17

Jan
18

Mar
18

May
18

Jul
18

Sep
18

Nov
18

Jan
19

Mar
19

CIC Placed Outside Kent (inc Medway)
over the last 3 years

UASC

Citizen

Produced by: CYPE Management Information Intelligence

Publication Date: 06/06/2019 Corporate Parenting Scorecard - Apr 2019 Page 5 of 6

Page 29



Data source: VSK. Figures shown are number of children

Multiple Attendance Factors April 2019

Multiple Attendance Factors March 2019

Key: 
CSE  Child Sexual Exploitation PA  Persisent Absence RTT  Reduced Timetable
Exclusions figures include children with temporary suspensions

Education Factors for Kent LAC as at 30/04/2019 and comparison with previous month

Produced by: CYPE Management Information Intelligence

Publication Date: 06/06/2019 Corporate Parenting Scorecard - Apr 2019 Page 6 of 6

Page 30



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young 
People and Education 
 

 Matt Dunkley, CBE, Corporate Director of Children, 
Young People and Education 
 

To: Corporate Parenting Panel 25th July 2019 
 

Subject: Kent Fostering Service Annual Report 2018 / 2019 & 
Kent Fostering Service Business Plan 2019 
 

Classification: Unrestricted 
 
 

Summary: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Recommendations: 

This Annual Report provides Members with an overview of 
the Kent Fostering Service from March 2018 - April 2019.  
The report details statistical information relating to the 
approval of new foster carers along with recruitment activity 
undertaken by the service.    
 
The Kent Fostering Service Business Plan 2019 details the 
areas of priority in the coming year, for both the recruitment 
and retention of Kent Foster Carers.   
 
Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
NOTE the information contained within the Kent Fostering 
Annual Report and Business Plan 2019.   

  

 

1. Introduction.  
 

1.1 Kent County Council aims to ensure that the Kent Fostering service recruits and 
supervises the very best foster carers to promote a safe and secure environment for 
children and young people in Kent.  The Annual Report outlines the key functions of 
the Kent Fostering service and a summary of work undertaken from April 2018 to 
March 2019.  The annual report is an opportunity to celebrate our successes as a 
service and to identify areas for improvement as we work towards our ambition for 
the service to be judged by Ofsted as ‘Outstanding’. 

 
 

1.2 The business plan sets out how the Kent Fostering Service intends to deliver its 
services to ensure children feel safe, secure, loved, fulfilled, happy and optimistic 
about their futures. The plan details how we will support our foster carers to achieve 
this for our children. It uses the National Minimum Standards (NMS) applicable to the 
provision of fostering services. The NMS together with the Fostering Regulations 
form the basis of the regulatory framework under the Care Standards Act 2000 for the 
conduct of fostering agencies. 

 
 

Page 31

Agenda Item 8



2. Body of the Annual Report and Business Plan 
 
2.1 The annual report focuses on the two key challenges for Kent Fostering, the 

recruitment of new foster carers and the retention of our experienced foster carers.  
 

2.2 The service has demonstrated a variety of new initiatives that have been used to 
attract new applications and the new branding has now been implemented. It 
continues to be a very competitive and challenging market in Kent, in which to recruit.   
 

2.3 The Business Plan sets out the direction of the service and our ambition to achieve 
the recruitment of 120 new foster carers. The service has secured Transformation 
funding, to use to improve placement stability and this will be used to offer more 
flexible support to our existing in-house foster carers in the aim to improve our 
retention.  

 
3. Conclusions 
 
3.1  Kent County Council are committed to ensuring that children can remain in the care 

of their parents and birth families where possible.  However, if it is not possible for the 
child to remain living in their birth family, we plan for alternate care within a family 
setting, both as a short term or permanent arrangement. The annual report 
demonstrates the work that has been undertaken during the last financial year. The  
Kent Fostering service has been part of the Change for Kent Children programme, 
wherein our aim is to consolidate areas of good practice and improve the support 
services provided to our in-house foster carers, children and young people.  
 

4.  Recommendation 
 

Recommendations:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
and COMMENT on the information contained within the Kent Fostering Annual Report 
and Business Plan.  
 

 
5. Background documents 
 
5.1 The Annual Report March 2018 - April 2019 including:  
 

 Kent Fostering Service Structure Chart  Appendix A 

 Kent Fostering Business Plan   Appendix B 
 

6. Contact details 
 
Lead Officer 
Caroline Smith  
Assistant Director of Corporate Parenting 
03000 415 091 
Caroline.Smith@kent.gov.uk  

Lead Director 
Sarah Hammond 
Director Integrated Children’s Services 
(East) 
03000 411 488 
Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk  

 

Page 32

mailto:Caroline.Smith@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk


 

KENT FOSTERING 

SERVICE 

ANNUAL REPORT 

 

Making Kent a County that works for all children 
 

APRIL 2018 - MARCH 2019 

 

 

Page 33



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

Introduction  
 
Caroline Smith, Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting, Integrated 
Children’s Services 
 

Kent Fostering is part of the range of services within Corporate 

Parenting, who support our children and young people in care.  

I am very proud to be a Corporate Parent to over 1,500 children and 

over 1,600 care leavers and be able to share with you the work to 

support those children that are placed with our Foster Carers.  Every 

day in Kent, Foster Carers make a real difference to children’s lives and 

we continue to strive to provide both carers and children with the best 

possible support we can.  

 

Nicola Anthony, Head of Fostering, East, Children’s Social Work Services  

Welcome to our Annual Report for Kent Fostering Agency which details 

the work of Kent Fostering Service.  As Head of Fostering East and 

working alongside Mark Vening, Head of Fostering West, our aim is to 

ensure that Kent Fostering recruit and supervise the very best foster 

carers to promote a safe and secure environment for children and young 

people in Kent.  I am proud of foster carers and their achievements and it 

is a privilege to work with them.  

 

 

Mark Vening, Head of Fostering, West, Children’s Social Work Services  

I am delighted to welcome you to Kent Fostering Service’s Annual 

Report.  The report will outline the key functions of Kent Fostering and a 

summary of the work undertaken from April 2018 to March 2019.  The 

annual report is an opportunity to celebrate our successes as a service 

as we work towards developing Kent Fostering towards our ambition to 

be Ofsted rated as ‘outstanding’.  I am very proud of the achievements of 

all staff within Kent Fostering along with the highly skilled foster carers 

who work tirelessly to improve the lives of our looked after children. 

  

Page 34



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

 

  

Contents Section 

Key Messages 1 

Supervision and Support to Foster Carers 2 

Communication and Support 3 

Fostering Assessment Teams 4 

Recruitment 5 

Fostering Review Team 6 

Training and Learning 7 

Kent Fostering Panels 8 

Kent Foster Care Association  9 

Business Plan 10 

Kent Fostering Service Structure Chart Appendix A 

Kent Fostering Business Plan Appendix B 

Page 35



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

Section 1 

Key Messages 

The Fostering Services Regulations 2011 and National Minimum Standards (NMS) require 

all Fostering services to provide a report of their activities and to review a written Statement 

of Purpose which sets out the aims and objectives of the service and the facilities they 

provide. 

The Fostering Service provides a service to recruit and support foster carers and to match 

carers to children who require temporary or permanent homes.  Kent Fostering remains 

committed to identifying and supporting stable placements for children where foster care is 

the identified plan. 

Throughout 2018-19 the Fostering Service has continued towards its goal of providing high 

quality, local placements for all children that are equipped and supported to meet their 

diverse needs.  This is a key strategic priority within the Council’s Corporate Parenting 

Strategy which has continued into the 2019-20 working year. 

The structure for the Kent Fostering Service during 2018-19 had been in place since October 

2012.  It was made up of 7 fostering supervising social work support teams and a centralised 

service which covered the recruitment and assessment of foster carers (including Connected 

Persons).  The specialist teams including the Disabled Children’s Fostering Team, the Sense 

of Belonging Team and the foster carer training and development team were also within the 

Centralised Service area.   

Kent Fostering Service was managed by one Head of Fostering, who had direct management 

responsibility for the centralised teams and for maintaining the standards within the Fostering 

Service as a whole and was the registered fostering manager.  Line management was 

provided by the Service Managers in the locality areas and oversight and quality assurance 

was provided by the Assistant Directors.  The aim of the service was to provide a range of high 

quality, appropriate foster placements that met the National Minimum Standards (2011), the 

requirements set out in Care Planning, Placement and Case Review Regulations 2010 and 

ensured the best possible outcomes for Kent’s children in care.  

  

Page 36



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

Section 2 

Supervision and Support to Foster Carers 

As of the 31st March 2019 Kent Fostering had 680 approved foster carers caring for 910 

mainstream children and 47 children living with a family relative or friend under an interim or 

full care order (a Connected Person Arrangement).  The remainder of our children in care are 

placed with Independent Fostering Agencies, residential units, residential schools, Staying Put 

placements, Supported Lodgings or in semi-independent accommodation and children placed 

for adoption. 

 

Whilst 80% of our children in care are in a Local Authority provision the service identified 

ongoing areas for improvement around the utilisation of foster carers, maximising the use of 

our in-house vacancies and enhancing the processes in place to match children both locally 

and across the County.  The focus of each support team was to continue to ensure that 

maximum use of in-house vacancies and ensuring foster carers have the skills and knowledge 

required to maintain their registration.  The aim was to work towards only having carers who 

were actively fostering and committed to working with the department.  This has meant that 

several foster carers have been deregistered due to being unable to take the children requiring 

placements; not actively fostering for prolonged periods and not meeting the requirements set 

out in fostering regulations.  This has meant a reduction in the number of registered foster 

carers over the past few years.  

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19

Percentage of Kent Placement Groups 

IFA KCC Foster Care KCC Residential Leaving Care Other

P&V Placed for Adoption Placed with Parents Relatives and Friends

Page 37



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

 

 

Kent Fostering Service in 2018/19 continued to implement actions around the strengthening and 

development of our service delivery including actions to improve consistency of practice and 

support provided directly to carers and strengthening the specialisms within the Service.  To this 

aim, work was undertaken to look at transferring the responsibility for the management of the 

area based fostering support teams to come under the umbrella of the Corporate Parenting 

management structure, bringing together both the support teams and centralised fostering 

teams under one area of accountability.  

 

 

 

660

665

670

675

680

685

690

695

700

705

710

715

Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19

Carer Households (excluding relief carers) 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19

De Registered Carers 

Allegation Deceased Not pursuing application

Other Resignation Retired

Complaint About Carer Transferred to IFA Not recorded

Page 38



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

Change for Kent Children  

As part of the Change for Kent children programme, a review of the structure of the fostering 

service was undertaken.  Several changes were identified, driven by a recognition of the need to 

improve the support we offered to Kent Foster Carers, promote consistency of practice 

throughout the county and ultimately address the worrying decline in the number of Kent carers 

that we have seen over the last three years.  Moving forward we shall be working to stem that 

flow and improve our support offer to carers and their families.  We shall do this by looking at 

our current carers and using them more effectively by developing the use of sessional work in 

helping to provide bespoke packages of support to foster carers in crisis.  We have also started 

to promote and develop Hub Families who will be identified to specifically support our most 

vulnerable children to remain in their placements and prevent breakdown with their carers.  Our 

drive will be to increase our recruitment numbers, and this is especially the case for those 

supporting the most vulnerable and challenging of our young people including parents and their 

children who need to be placed with foster carers during a period of assessment.  This new 

structure took effect on the 1st April 2019. 1 

 

Section 3 

Communication and Support 

Working relationships and information that we provided to our carers continued to be developed 

to ensure that feedback on changes were constructive without losing the opportunity for foster 

carers to raise concerns about the service.  Support groups continued to take place each month 

in all of the areas and any issues were then fed into the Foster Carers Advisory Board which 

was chaired by the Head of Fostering and attended by both the team managers within all the 

fostering teams and foster carer representatives within each of the four areas.  Virtual School 

Kent, the Recruitment Co-ordinator and the Training Coordinator are also in attendance.  

However, during 2018/19 the Fostering Service built on these areas.  One of our key aims was 

to focus on retention of foster carers and improve the communication further.  A Foster Carer 

Satisfaction Survey was launched in June 2018 to gather feedback from foster carers to 

understand the areas of the Fostering Service that are working well and what areas can be 

approved upon.  

One of the developments following this survey was to introduce Meet and Greet sessions, 

for foster carers and the Head of Fostering, alongside Child in Care Service Managers.  

These meetings are held twice a year in each area to continue promoting the relationship 

and communication with foster carers. 

 

                                                           
1
 Kent Fostering Service Structure Chart – Appendix A 

Page 39



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

During this year Kent Fostering recruited 30 Foster Carer Ambassadors.  The foster carers 

are from across all areas of Kent and undertake the following roles: 

• Work within their local community to recruit carers to join the Service 

• Attending meetings with the Head of Service to review, update and develop 

policy and guidance 

• Facilitate training events and conferences to disseminate learning to foster carers 

and social workers 

• Consult on developing new services for foster carers and children 

• Represent Kent Fostering in local forums and 

• Co-facilitate the Meet and Greet sessions with the aim to work with senior 

managers, fostering and CIC social workers and other colleagues involved in the 

team around the child.  

The Ambassadors have been working on the actions that have originated from these 

meetings. These have included: 

 

 A review of the Annual Review paperwork, with the view that it will be streamlined 

and the quantity of written work for foster carers will be reduced,  

 Developing a Kent Fostering App to improve the speed of our communication so that 

all foster carers are kept up to date with any changes 

 Promoting the Foster Carer Awards Ceremony which took place on the 14th 

November 2018 (see below). 

 

 

  

 

Page 40



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

 

The Foster Care Ambassadors have been working with the Service in updating the 

Payment for Skills Payment structure which outlines the criteria for foster carers to be 

acknowledged financially for the skills they have gained and used when meeting children’s 

needs as well as being fundamental in the updating of the new Staying Put policy which has 

now been agreed and uploaded onto Tri-X.  They have also contributed to the development 

of the outline for a new Parent and Child scheme which is at the service design phase.   

 

This has enabled the Kent Fostering Service to access key specialised knowledge that 

foster carers have in developing new forms and processes as well as giving carers the 

opportunity to invest and have a say in their agency and its path of travel.  Following 

feedback from the Meet and Greet sessions, we have also introduced a monthly newsletter 

from the 'Head of Fostering' which includes updates and ways in which foster carers can 

get involved across the service.  

 

Section 4 

Fostering Assessment Teams 

There are two Assessment teams within Kent with one covering the assessment of carers 

in the East and South areas and the other covering the North and West.  They are 

responsible for the initial training and assessment of all new applicants as well as those 

family members who are seeking to become connected persons for a specific child.  They 

attend information events and recruitment stands at arranged events planned throughout 

the County to help advertise and promote recruitment for Kent Fostering.   

The teams are responsible for undertaking the Skills to Foster courses which are held for 

new applicants; twelve of these three-day courses took place last year, three of which were 

held during the weekend and evenings.  In addition, Panel training took place over 2 days in 

the Autumn of 2018.  Here foster carers shared good practice and the Panel Members 

revisited values, attitudes and professional curiosity around risk and vulnerabilities.  The 

team also share good practice with the area children’s teams and delivered three 

Connected Persons workshops across the county highlighting the statutory and practice 

Page 41



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

requirements for any member of a looked after child’s family, or friend of the family, 

becoming a foster carer for Kent. 

The teams also play a key role in other areas.  As part of the role in keeping in contact with 

foster carers, they held Meet and Greet sessions across the county.  This was in light of the 

significant changes within the service and the completion and outcome of the first Kent 

foster carers satisfaction survey.  In maintaining consistency in practice, the teams have 

also developed and revised existing processes and policies including foster carers diary 

record keeping, nominated carers and parent and child placements. 

 

Section 5 

Recruitment 

The recruitment of foster carers continues to be a challenge especially in Kent where as 

well as there being a nationwide issue regarding the recruitment of carers, Kent Fostering 

are in competition with the highest number of Independent Fostering Agencies compared to 

any other county.   

Foster Carer Approvals April 2018 to March 2019 

  2017-18 2018-19 

Number of Approvals 81 78 

Average time to complete 
full approval process  
(Government set timescale 
target is 8 months)  

8 months 
 
 

 

5.72  
(90.9% completed in 6 months or less) 

 
 

 

Recruitment has remained consistent and there has been a significant improvement in the 

timescales to complete the full approval assessment process.  The application process has 

been streamlined, to ensure there are no delays and additional Skills to Foster Training 

courses and panels are arranged, at times of increased recruitment activity.   

 

  
Apr-
18 

May-
18 

Jun-
18 

Jul-
18 

Aug-
18 

Sep-
18 

Oct-
18 

Nov-
18 

Dec-
18 

Jan-
19 

Feb-
19 Mar-19 

Total 
Registrations 
(excl Relief) 3 6 4 11 8 5 8 8 8 5 5 7 

 

Page 42



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

 

 

In their report ‘The State of the Nation’, the Fostering Network highlighted that the 

recruitment and retention of Foster carers continues to be a challenge locally and nationally 

and in addressing this, greater regional cooperation with south east regional local 

authorities has been formed to combine recruitment efforts in an attempt to improve the 

number of carers coming into the agency.  As a new initiative, a ‘Carer’s Career Fair’ took 

place in October 2018 which included Kent Fostering and Adoption, Shared Lives, 

Supported Lodgings, Young Lives Foundation and Medway Fostering.  

Key to the number of enquiries and applicants we receive are our recruitment materials.   

As a result, we looked at our advertising images towards the end of the recruitment year. 

Following the ‘Open Your Heart to Fostering’ campaign, which had been our branding for 

the last 3 years, changes have been made to promote Fostering for Kent as a Local 

Authority.  The branding will now have the focus of “Foster for Kent”, aiming to attract Kent 

families, for Kent Children with local Kent support.   

The use of social media has increased, including Facebook and Twitter to ensure Kent 

Fostering has a greater presence within the local community via social media platforms.  

The impact of this has already been seen this year when during Fostering Fortnight we 

received 85 new enquires which is more than those received during the same period for the 

three preceding years. 

The Corporate Parenting Panel elected members and foster carer ambassadors have 

greatly contributed to the recruitment of foster carers in their local areas.  Kent elected 

members have assisted with advertising the Information events and circulating recruitment 

materials, they have supported and attended local events and presented awards at the 

Foster Carers Appreciation Ceremony.  The promotion of Kent Fostering by the members 

and ambassadors has ensured a larger footprint in the community and crucial media 

coverage. 

 

Mr Mike Angell, former Chairman for KCC commented at the  Appreciation Award 

Ceremony: “I was delighted to have been invited to present the awards at this year’s 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19

Total Registrations (excl Relief Carers) 

Page 43



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

appreciation event, I feel it is very important we recognise the wonderful work undertaken 

by our foster carers and staff, often unlooked for behind the scenes. I hope more people will 

consider fostering with the council and joining our wonderful team.”  

The focus on the Service’s recruitment has led to several developments which include: 

 The development of a comprehensive recruitment strategy,  

 Changes in fostering images and branding, 

 Continual development of the fostering service website, 

 Development of the use of social media, including the use of a Facebook page 

for 2018/19, 

 Bespoke/targeted advertising and profiling events, for our children with more 

complex needs.  

 

 

 

Advertising this year has included new banners, short films and stills on social media, 

railway and radio advertising, leaflets in school bags and a new format for the information 

events.  Furthermore, collaborative working with Virtual School Kent, Kent Libraries and 

Kent Country Parks has been formed to reach wider areas of the community.  Experienced 

foster carers are part of all information events, to enhance presentations by sharing the 

rewards of being a foster carer for Kent Fostering.   

 

 

Page 44



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

Initial enquiries to Kent Fostering have remained consistent during 2018/2019 with 590 

enquiries over the past year.  This is in line with the previous year which had 597.  The 

conversion rate of applications received from enquiries is 34% and the conversion of 

enquires to full approval has remained steady at 10% which is in line with the national 

average.  In the last six months of the 2018-19 reporting year, there has been an increase 

in approvals from the previous 6 months which appear to reflect the increased recruitment 

campaigns and impact of social media.   

The Service has also targeted specific “hot spot” areas for recruitment within the county, 

which require additional fostering placements, due to a lack of foster carers in those areas.  

These include the North and West areas.  As a result, posters were displayed at the 

Orchards Shopping Centre in Dartford, St George’s in Gravesend and Chequers Shopping 

Mall in Maidstone for a period of 6 months from May 2018.  Generic posters were sent with 

accompanying letters to doctors, dentists, hospitals and cafes along with targeted small 

businesses in West and North Kent to promote Kent Fostering.  This was in addition to 

specific event posters. 

 

Throughout the year 13 information events were held with 177 households in attendance, 

with 18% completing applications.  To date 16% of the applications have been approved as 

Foster Carers.  

 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

Tonbridge November 15 Sevenoaks May 15 Tunbridge Wells Feb 17 Sevenoaks Feb 18 Tonbridge Oct 18

West Kent Information Events  

Housholds Applications Approvals Linear (Housholds)

Page 45



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

 

 

Additional Recruitment Events 

The Carers Recruitment Fair was held at Detling Showground with IFA’s, Kent Adoption 

Service and Kent Care Leavers Service.  The event was advertised via Facebook, radio, 

Jobcentres and a ‘poster drop’.  The Specialist Recruitment Event took place at Thanington 

Resource Centre and was advertised via the KM Group digital media and a targeted ‘flyer 

drop’ to 1641 local businesses schools, police, hospitals and nurseries as well as our 

Facebook page.  The events were attended by 13 households resulting in 3 current 

applications.  Whilst this is lower than we hoped for, the service is ambitious to try new 

ways of recruitment and be creative in trying new events.  

We have developed our attendance and links with local community events to encourage 

applications from the wider community and have had a presence at: 

• Paddock Wood Hop Farm (Aug 2018) 

• Canterbury Pride (June 2018) 

• Canterbury Fire Station Open Day (Aug 2018)  

• Paws in the Park Event at Detling (Sept 2018) 

177 

32 

6 5 

Information Events  

Households Applications Received Withdrew/Stopped Approved Carers

39 

55 

42 

53 
58 

63 

50 

38 

26 

60 59 

47 

Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 

EXPRESSIONS OF INTEREST 

Page 46



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

• Paddock Wood Christmas Light Switch on (Nov 2018) 

• Folkestone ArtMart Christmas (Nov 2018)  

• Ightham Mote Christmas Market (Dec 2018) 

 

 

 

We have had pop-up stands working alongside our KCC partners in libraries across Kent as 

well as the cinema chain Cineworld.  We also attended various supermarkets across the 

county including Whitstable, Tesco and Queenborough Morrisons. 

Kent Fostering has utilised radio, digital content via external agencies and social media 

platforms to a far greater degree.  Kent Fostering’s Facebook page along with KCC Twitter 

and Instagram pages have predominantly been used to advertise recruitment events.  We 

have gradually increased this to include content of “days” e.g. “siblings’ day” and details of 

MythBusters.  These have proved popular and the content is shared by staff and carers 

along with linking in to other Kent Services social media i.e. Catch 22 and our internal 

KNET website.   

 

The national average ‘click’ rate for a website is 0.03%, Kent Fostering advertising an event in 

Feb / March 2018 had a click rate of 0.82%. 

Radio advertising was trialled with the KM Group for Half Term Heroes and a Kent Foster 

Carer was interviewed for a “Work place shout out”.  Radio adverts ran with Global (Heart 

Radio) between May and June as well as a specific radio advert for the Carers Fair in October.  

A set of films have been commissioned to help promote Kent Fostering detailing the various 

types of fostering.  These currently follow the old-style branding with “Open your Heart” and 

are under review for 2019/20.  The films include a series of short ‘filmletts’ with additional films 

for Parent and Child fostering and Caring for Teenagers films in production.  Shortened 

Page 47



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

version of the films (10 seconds approx.) have also been created to use to advertise 

information events. 

Z:\Global\Ashford\FSC Central Fostering Assessment Team\Recruitment\Vicky\Social 

Media\Facebook\Gravesend Jul 19\01d 4 July Fostering Event.mp4 

 

Kent Fostering has sponsored Chestfield Cricket Junior Club.  

The Kent Fostering logo appears on the players shirts and 

jumpers which are worn at club matches in Kent and further 

afield.  The cricket club also display Kent Fostering Service 

leaflets in the clubhouse and have a banner at their practice 

ground.  

 

Kent Fostering sponsors The Tunbridge Wells Youth Bowling Club 

and have our “Open your Heart” campaign advertised on their 

jerseys.  They play in a Kent league and attend numerous 

competitions county and country wide. 

 

 

Moving forward Kent Fostering has rebranded to Foster for Kent.  

Adverts have already been placed in the Canterbury and Dartford 

areas with Canterbury Park and Ride and at Dartford Prospect 

Place.  The Park and Ride has been noted as the media source 

accessed to contact the Initial Enquiries Team on several 

occasions.  

 

 

Page 48

file:///Z:/Global/Ashford/FSC%20Central%20Fostering%20Assessment%20Team/Recruitment/Vicky/Social%20Media/Facebook/Gravesend%20Jul%2019/01d%204%20July%20Fostering%20Event.mp4
file:///Z:/Global/Ashford/FSC%20Central%20Fostering%20Assessment%20Team/Recruitment/Vicky/Social%20Media/Facebook/Gravesend%20Jul%2019/01d%204%20July%20Fostering%20Event.mp4


Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

Section 6 

Fostering Review Team 

The Fostering Review Team has been in place since September 2016, Senior Practitioners 

in this team have taken on the chairing of foster carer Annual reviews to give independency 

and consistency to the review process, with clear recommendations.  There is clearly more 

of a focus on outcomes for children within the review period and feedback on foster carers 

practice, alongside their development and training needs for the year ahead.  

 

This has been the second year that foster carer Annual Reviews have been managed and 

completed by the Fostering Review Team providing a level of independent assessment of 

foster carers, a quality assurance function for the service and opportunities for reflection, 

learning and development for the service as a whole.  The team is well established and 

settled, managing a high number of Annual Reviews across the county. 

The Fostering service has continued to achieve a high compliance rate and good practice 

regarding foster carers Annual Reviews with 622 fostering households Annual Reviews 

completed in the year April 2018 to March 2019.  

An average of 86% of Annual Reviews have been successfully completed within the 

statutory 12-month timescale.  The 14% of Annual Reviews that have not been completed 

within timescale have been due to clear reasons including:  

 Annual Reviews delayed due to foster carers circumstances e.g. significant ill health, 

bereavement, travelling abroad  

 staffing issues e.g. sickness absence, high vacancy numbers 

 Liberi errors e.g. consolidation errors with the Annual Review form and a change in 

data reporting 

 

From October 2018, the Fostering Review Team also started undertaking 6 month follow up 

calls to newly approved foster carers.  21 were completed by 31st March 2019.  The 

purpose of this is to follow up on newly approved carers to check on their progress and 

provide an independent review early on in the year of how well the assessment process 

prepared them for the fostering task.  It allows us to understand how they are managing the 

transition from Assessment to Support Team, consider how they have been matched (or 

not) to children, quality of supervision, training and the quality of the support they are being 

provided.  This is also a good opportunity to introduce the Annual Review and to ensure 

new foster carers have all they need to be on track to achieve a successful first year of 

fostering.  

 

Page 49



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

Annual Review Process, Quality of Annual Reviews and 6 Month Follow 

Up Telephone Calls 

The Annual Review administration system has become well established and functioning 

more effectively and consistently across all fostering Support teams.  There is evidence of 

good communication and collaboration with Fostering Social Workers, Team Managers and 

foster carers regarding Annual Reviews ensuring joint ownership and responsibility of the 

Annual Review process and reducing areas of frustration and dissatisfaction for foster 

carers.   

There has been a more visible increase in the feedback recorded by fostering social 

workers from children (looked after children and children who foster), children’s social 

workers, birth family and other professionals e.g. IROs, education, health.  This is mainly 

from fostering social workers being proactive and creative in gathering such feedback in 

different ways including fostering social workers speaking to children in care themselves 

when they visit the fostering household, speaking to children’s social workers, birth family 

and other professionals directly, using what is recorded on the child’s file, Child in Care 

Review minutes, correspondence etc. which better informs foster carer Annual Reviews. 

Overall the quality of Annual Reviews is regularly improving with marked improvements in 

the quality of assessment and analysis by fostering social workers, reflection by all involved 

with Annual Review reports being thorough, well evidenced and informed.  Annual Reviews 

have provided an opportunity for foster carers to feel that their good work is recognised, 

and they are valued as an invaluable resource within the service.  In the same way, Annual 

Reviews have become a positive and open forum for reflection and learning for fosters and 

the wider service too.  

Learning from Annual Reviews has continued to be significant in identifying and flagging for 

the service areas of vulnerability, practice improvement and learning which has led to better 

case management, practice and policy changes and improvements on individual case basis 

and at a wider service level.  This is key in improving the service provision, quality of care 

provided for children, foster carers satisfaction and retention. The 6 months follow up calls 

have especially helped ensure newly approved carers feel valued and that anxieties and 

vulnerabilities are identified and responded to early by the service.  They have contributed 

to carer retention and have so far helped us hold onto three sets of carers that we risked 

losing early on due to issues following approval. 

We have also received feedback about foster carer Annual Reviews from foster carers, 

fostering social workers, fostering team managers and the Fostering Panel. These include:  

 Foster Carers feel that the annual review has become a more meaningful process 

where their good work is acknowledged and celebrated, birth children and family 

recognised, their voices heard, the service being held accountable and everyone 

being able to reflect on their practice and consider learning to improve practice.  

 Staff feeling that their assessment is validated, feeling supported to have open and 

honest reflection with foster carers which can be difficult to do on their own, that the 

Page 50



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

annual reviews are thorough which allows things to be picked up which they may 

have missed especially given staff changes and high workloads.  They also like the 

opportunity to reflect and have clear and well thought out action plans from the 

annual reviews.  

 Fostering team managers feel that the annual reviews provide a thorough case audit 

which informs management function as they consider different aspects of the file and 

individual case management.  It highlights good practice and flags up where there 

are gaps, practice or compliance issues that they may not be aware of. Annual 

reviews also help inform staff performance management.  

 Kent Fostering Panels feel that it is more thorough and provides better evidence 

which informs Panel process.  

 

Vulnerabilities however remain regarding Annual Reviews around the processes of the 

reviews in relation to Liberi, staff changes and consistency in the fostering social worker 

completing annual reviews and the lack of feedback of the carers work from colleagues.  

Ongoing communication with the children’s social workers will continue to help minimise 

delays and feedback forms not being completed as well as changes in our processes to 

ensure that the views of the fostering team managers and their oversight of 

recommendations remains consistent. 

 

Section 7 

Kent Fostering Specialised Services 

 

Sense of Belonging Service 

 

48% of foster carers are supporting a child with mental health needs who are not accessing 

specialised services.  This puts significant pressure on the placement and heightens the 

risk of breakdowns.  The Sense of Belonging Service supports foster carers and 

professionals in the network at times of crisis and when the placement is at risk of 

disruption, to de-escalate the issues and thereby increase placement stability.  This 

includes a Clinical Psychologist supporting foster carers to understand the meaning of their 

child’s behaviour and to consider what might help to both manage the behaviour and 

sustain the relationship with the foster child.  In addition, where children and young people 

have had multiple placement moves, the service provides support around transition and 

placement planning.  

 

The service opened for referrals on 8 September 2017.  During the first quarter the focus 

was on establishing the service and building links and relationships with social work teams 

and other key agencies.  Although the service has been running for less than one year, it is 

Page 51



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

already evident that Sense of Belonging is having a significant impact on placement stability 

for the children they are working with.  The focus of the work continues to be on the network 

and on supporting foster carers at times of significant stress. 

 

 “Absolutely fantastic! The best advice I have had since beginning my fostering 

journey has come from the psychologist. She saved me from going mad!” 

 

 “Thank you so much for your invaluable input over the last months. You have 

provided us with support and very helpful direction in some difficult times.” 

 

Between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 there have been 99 referrals which have been 

accepted.  Out of these referrals 61 (62%) were due to the placement potentially breaking 

down and out of those 24 are still current with ongoing work with the carers continuing, 75 

cases are closed following work being completed.  The plan is for short term intervention, 

as opposed to long term case work.  

 

Of the 75 completed cases 51 or 68% remained in placement with 24 (32%) moving to an 

alternative provision.  These moves were to more appropriate identified placements of 

another foster carer or residential unit.  

 

Activity Weekends 

 

Kent Fostering run an Activity Programme for children and young people who have had 

several placements moves or are at risk of placement breakdown due to complex needs, 

being on a part time timetable, at risk of being excluded or missing from care. 

 

The programme of events provides foster carers with additional support and an opportunity 

to have a break.  Children and young people have an opportunity to make new friends, try 

new activities and build self-esteem with the aim to improve placement stability and to 

become more settled at school.   

 

 “My child’s behaviour improved from being with a new peer group and from having male 

staff as positive role models (single female carer)” 

 “Our young person talked nonstop about the fun he had and asked when he could go 

again.” 

 “He is still talking about the friends he made on the activity day and can’t wait until the 

next one.” 

 “Thoroughly enjoyed the first day despite his nerves and rated the day 10 out of 10.” 

 

Page 52



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

  

 

The Disabled Children’s Fostering Team 

This is an area of excellence, with experienced fostering staff supporting foster carers to 

provide both full time care for disabled children and Short Breaks for children and young 

people with disabilities, alongside their foster and Short Break families throughout Kent.  

We currently have 56 foster carers of whom 35 offer full time placements (of which 6 also 

offer Short Breaks and 1 is a Connected carer) and 21 offer Short Break care to children 

with disabilities.  The numbers of carers that Kent have for disabled children has remained 

stable, however we need to build further in this area to provide more opportunity for 

disabled children to live within the community and will be focussing on developing a 

recruitment campaign to achieve this.  

 

 

 

 

 

‘4% of all approved foster carer are Short Break carers’(Foster Care in England (2018) Review (Narey 

& Owers)) 8% of total enquiries to KCC last year were for Short Breaks 

Page 53



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

One of the main challenges for disabled children is to ensure that their thoughts and 

feelings do not go unnoticed or unheard.  Therefore, to help ensure that this does not 

happen and to give every opportunity to a disabled child to have their voice heard, each 

social worker has been allocated a Widget communication tool, to aid communication 

regarding all aspects of their care.  Widget is a symbol-based form of communication used 

with children and adults with a disability.   

 

Activity Events  

The team continues to ensure that disabled children have positive, inclusive activity events 

taking into account their needs.  Throughout the year various events have taken place 

including: 

 

 Kent Life      

 Christmas Party with Kazamataz 

 Pantomime 

 Hythe Summer Picnic 

 Festability,  

 Making My Mark, Art display – displayed in Canterbury, Folkestone, Margate, Dover.  

 Performers without Borders – Circus Skills.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 54



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

Section 7 

Training and Learning 

Training for foster carers across the county and Fostering Panel Member Training is the 

responsibility of the centralised fostering training coordinator who develops and delivers a 

programme of training days, workshops and e-learning which is responsive to the diverse 

requirements of a large county fostering service.  The programme includes “pre-approval” 

training, i.e. Skills to Foster, Fostering Changes, Core training for all carers and workshops 

for experienced foster carers.  There are opportunities for carers to gain nationally 

recognised Level 3 and Level 4 Diploma qualifications. 

The training in the past year has included learning from Allegations, ‘thinking the 

unthinkable’, Understanding and Recognising Predators in Positions of Trust, Safeguarding 

and updates of the service. 

The training introduced new developments in the service such as the Kent Foster Carer 

Risk and Vulnerability Assessment and using ‘Signs if Safety’ in fostering assessments and 

supervision and the triangulation of the safe care plan. 

 

Last year we held a conference looking at informing, supporting and updating foster carers 

about the themes and new research within the fostering field and to introduce the Reflective 

Fostering Programme.  The Fostering in Today’s World Conference took place on the 5th 

and 11th March 2019 and outlined the aims and purpose of reflective fostering to provide 

carers with practical ways to help build and maintain supportive relationships with the 

children in their care, drawing on, but not strictly adhering to, the model of 'reflective 

parenting’. Participants were then able to choose workshops on two of the following 

 Non-Violence Resistance  

 Internet Safety / Pornography and the effect on young people 

 Radicalisation and Extremism of Children 

 The effects of Gangs Culture on children and young people. 

 Mental Health Needs of Children 

As the demands and needs of carers and children are ever changing, we seek feedback 

from our Foster Carer Advisory group and have this year commissioned training on 

Allegations made against carers and how to safeguard against these. Courses on Child 

Trafficking, Exploitation and Modern-Day Slavery, Caring for Children with Sexualised 

Behaviour and Online Safety will soon be added to the events calendar education course 

on Key Stage 5 Planning, Special Educational Needs Training, Personal Education Plans, 

Attainment and Progress and Pupil Premium Plus.   

 

Alongside the face to face training offered to carers, we hold a list of 40 plus eLearning 

subjects that are available to them.  A program of training can be seen in the fostering 

handbook and this is updated with new courses as and when they are developed. 

https://www.fosteringhandbook.com/kent/training.html 

Page 55

https://www.fosteringhandbook.com/kent/training.html


Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

 

Moving forward we are working closely with our VSK colleagues to hold a conference being 

delivered by our young people on “Growing up in Care” and also a further 2 conferences on 

“Building the Bond of Attachment” caring for children and teenagers who have experienced 

developmental trauma. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 56



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

Section 8 

Kent Fostering Panels 

 

Following the restructure of Kent Fostering Service, Fostering Panels have reduced from 

five to four a month in recognition of the changes to the Area Teams (North Kent, West 

Kent, South Kent and East Kent).  The Fostering Panels consider new approvals for both 

mainstream fostering applicants and connected persons foster carers, alongside a range of 

matters regarding existing foster carers registrations (annual reviews, complaints, 

allegations and permanency etc.).  In total 445 cases were heard at Panel from April 2018 

to March 2019. 

 

 

 

The Panels are held at two of the Fostering Service’s main offices; Kroner House in Ashford 

and Brook House in Whitstable.  The Panels are chaired independently by experienced and 

suitably qualified professionals and the members of each Panel include a range of people 

with personal and professional experience of fostering, for example an Independent 

Fostering Agency foster carer, health care professional and adults who have been looked 

after in foster care.   

 

Training days were offered to all panel members which included staff from the fostering 

service and foster carer peer support.  The training focussed on the following themes: 

 

Page 57



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

• PREVENT, including radicalisation and pathways to extremism, 

• Values and attitudes, 

• Panel decisions and roles of Panel Members,  

• Child Focussed National Minimum Standards and  

• Celebrating Kent Foster Carers. 

 

The training explored how individual and organisational values and attitudes can impact on 

fostering practice and further considered Fostering National Minimum Standards and their 

application at Kent Fostering Panels.  PREVENT training was provided by Nick Wilkinson, 

Prevent and Channel Strategic Manager.  

 

Feedback from the training was that it enabled time for reflection in respect of personal and 

professional values and beliefs in a fostering context.  The PREVENT discussions were 

viewed as excellent and some attendees felt that this was more informative than the 

mandatory online training. The majority of attendees considered that joint training between 

staff and foster carers is helpful in delivering a consistent message across the fostering 

service and enabling a range of different perspectives to contribute to the development of 

the service. 

Section 9 

Kent Foster Care Association 

 

The Kent Foster Care Association is a small registered charity which aims to work 

alongside Kent Fostering Service to provide support for our registered foster carers. The 

charity was set up and is run by our foster carers with a desire to help all carers in this 

rewarding but sometimes difficult role. They to protect and preserve the wellbeing of foster 

carers, the children in their care and the whole fostering family by providing advice, 

information, services, events, facilities and equipment. In the past year they have organised 

and funded training opportunities, an annual conference, and events for the foster carers.  

Page 58



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

The very successful events have included trips to Chessington, a training production of 

Chelsea’s Choice for foster carers and KCC staff, they have assisted in funding Christmas 

parties and summer events for all children in care and their fostering families.  

They work with localised KCC fostering events teams and support them to arrange their 

own events for children and their families. As a charity they rely on donations and fund 

raising and have therefore taken part in various events including an Autumn Ball and 

Dragon Boat Race which also raises the profile of Kent Fostering Service. The KFCA Chair 

and committee are extremely supportive of Kent Fostering and contribute to the recruitment 

of carers and staff and ensure that the voice of Kent foster carers is heard. 

 

 

Section 10 

Kent Fostering Business Plan  

Following the restructure on 1st April 2019, Kent Fostering has two focuses for the coming 

year, increased recruitment of new foster carers and the retention of our approved foster 

carers. The Service has been successful in achieving Transformation funding and this will 

be used to improve our range of flexible support to provide to foster carers who are caring 

for our most complex children, to improve placement stability.   

Kent Fostering will aim to increase Parent and Child placement provision, by recruiting an 

additional 10 foster carers for this area of work.  The service will develop Hub family 

provision, aiming for 10 hub families for the county, 2 in each area.  The service will be 

creative in using some of our experienced carers and foster carer ambassadors, to provide 

sessional hours directly to foster carers and children, where placements are fragile and 

require additional support to achieve stability. The Sense of Belonging Team will be 

expanded to become a specialist Fostering Team for Placement Stability.  

Our detailed Business Plan is attached and concludes our Annual Report for 2019.   

Page 59



Kent Fostering Service Annual report 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 60



Appendix A 
Kent Fostering Structure June 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Total Placement Service 

(TPS Service Manager) 

 

Team Manager  

 

Alina Morosan  

 

Senior Practitioner  

Social Work Assistant 

Recruitment Co-ordinator 

 

Victoria Corney-Young  

Training Co-ordinator 

 

Susan Douglas 

Caroline Smith 

Assistant Director Corporate Parenting 

Mark Vening 

Head of Fostering – West 

Panel ADM 

Nicola Anthony 

Head of Fostering - East 

Panel ADM 

Fostering Assessment 

Team 2 

 

 Team Manager 1 

 

Mim Nichols 

Placement Stability Team 

Team Manager  

Tracy Burroughs 5.6.19 

 

(Clinical Psychologist 1 FTE) 

Anoushka Khan  
 

Service Manager Total Placement 

Service – Tracy Smith 

1 FTE KR13 

South Kent Fostering Team 

Ashford and Shepway 

 

Team Manager  

 

Jamie Griggs 

Fostering Review Team 

 

Team Manager  

 

Chipo Mukoki 

North Kent Fostering 

Team 

Gravesham, Swale and 

Medway 

 

Team Manager  

 

Ranjit Kang 

Disabled Children’s 

Fostering  

Team Manager  

 

Tracy Burroughs  

(Vacant from 5.6.19) 

Fostering Assessment 

Team 1 

 

Team Manager  

 

Maria Cordrey 

West Kent Fostering Team 

Maidstone, Ton & Malling, 

Tun Wells, Dartford and 

Sevenoaks 

 

Team Manager  

 

Susan Dunkin 

East Kent 2 Fostering 

Team 

Thanet 

 

Team Manager  

 

Sheila Will 

East Kent 1 Fostering Team 

Canterbury and Dover 

 

Team Manager  

 

Catarina Dechaine (Mat Sept 

2019) 

Liz Maxted 

Kent Fostering Agency 

Coordinator 

Mary Hilden 

Senior Practitioners  

Social Workers  

Social Work Assistants  

Business 

Support  

Senior Practitioners  

Social Workers  

Social Work Assistants  

Business 

Support  

Senior Practitioners  

Social Workers  

Social Work Assistants  

Business 

Support  

Senior Practitioners  

Social Workers  

Senior Practitioners  

 

Business 

Support  

Business 

Support  

Senior Practitioners  

Social Workers  

Social Work Assistants  

Senior Practitioners  

Social Workers  

Social Work Assistants  

Senior Practitioners  

Social Workers  

Social Work Assistants  

Senior Practitioners  

Social Workers  

Senior Practitioners  

Social Workers  

Initial Enquiries 

Advisers  

Business 

Support  

Business 

Support  

Business 

Support  

Business 

Support  

Business 

Support  

P
age 61



 

 
 

Appendix B 

Kent County Council’s Fostering Service Business Plan; 2019-2020 

 
This Business Plan correlates to the SCS business plan 

 

 
 

Kent Fostering Service’s vision 
 

To achieve an outstanding fostering service that ensures consistent support to foster carers with positive outcomes for Kent children and young 
people with improved stability within their foster family. “Making Kent a County that works for all children.” 

 
This document uses the National Minimum Standards (NMS) applicable to the provision of fostering services. The NMS together with the Fostering Regulations 2011 form the 

basis of the regulatory framework under the Care Standards Act 2000 for the conduct of fostering agencies. 

 

 
Kent Fostering Business Plan: April 2019 – March 2020 

 
Kent County Council are committed to ensuring that children can remain in the care of their parents and birth families wherever possible. 
However, if it is not possible for the child to remain living in their birth family, we plan for alternate care within a family setting, both as a short term 
or permanent arrangement. This business plan sets out how Kent’s fostering service intends to deliver its services to ensure children feel safe, 
secure, loved, fulfilled, happy and optimistic and how we will support their foster carers to provide this to them. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

P
age 62

https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0015/80115/CYPE-Directorate-Business-Plan-2018-19.pdf


Kent Fostering Business Plan: April 2019 – March 2020 

 

TARGET 1: Facilitating the Corporate Parenting role within Kent Fostering and across Kent County Council departments. (NMS 7.1, 13.1) 

Objective  Action to be undertaken Timescales  Lead Performance management Outcome  

To work collaboratively 
with all partner and 
agencies, including 
libraries, KCC office 
buildings and country 
parks to promote the 
recruitment of foster 
carers across all areas 
within Kent. 
 
 
 
 
Update recruitment 
material and promotion 
of Kent Fostering. 
 
 
 
 
 
Secure and accessible 
communication links 
with Fostering 
applicants and Kent 
Foster Carers. 

Engage all KCC teams in 
supporting the recruitment of 
foster carers and that they 
are engaged to promote 
fostering for KCC.  
 
Recruitment material will be 
provided to all KCC venues 
with specific information 
events planned for the year.   
 
 
 
Update the website and 
review the advertising 
materials and use of social 
media to increase recruitment 
and awareness of Kent 
Fostering services unique 
selling points (USP). 
 
Develop a Fostering App or 
interactive Website portal. 
 
Children’s Portal for initial 
fostering enquiries and 
secure submission of diary 
records, annual review and 
other documents. 

Calendar of 
events to 
be 
published 
for 2019/20  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
March 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Autumn 
2019 
 
 

Heads of 
Fostering 
 
 
 
 
Recruitment 
coordinator 
 
 
 
 
 
Heads of 
Fostering 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Assistant 
Director for 
Corporate 
Parenting 
 

By carrying out consistent 
calendar of recruitment and 
information events across 
Kent to be published on Kent 
Fostering Website.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Footprint on social media to 
increase and increasing the 
number of enquiries and 
applications.  
 
 
 
 
Transformation funding 
secured for development, 
monitored through budget 
delivery board and Change 
for Kent Steering Group.  

Recruitment of 120 
new foster carers for 
1st April 2019 - 31st 
March 2020.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Kent Fostering 
brand will be 
prominent throughout 
the Kent community. 
 
 
 
 
Kent Fostering App 
or Website portal to 
access information 
and guidance.   
 
 

 
 
 
  

P
age 63



Kent Fostering Business Plan: April 2019 – March 2020 

 

TARGET 2: Ensure children and young people in care can communicate their views on all aspects of their lives, including their care and 
support. (NMS 1.3, 1.4, 1.5, 1.7) 

Objective  Action to be undertaken Timescale Lead Performance management Outcome 

It is a priority for 
children in care teams 
and the fostering teams 
to promote the voice of 
the children and young 
people within their 
districts.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Children and young 
people to contribute to 
the training and 
development of foster 

To increase the voice of the 
child within foster carer 
Annual Reviews and increase 
the attendance of children in 
care at participation events. 
 
 
 
Fostering social workers to 
include the voice of the child 
within the foster carer 
supervision visits. To see the 
children within placement a 
minimum of quarterly to 
include a visit prior to a foster 
carers Annual Review. 
 
 
Continue running “Keeping 
Safe” groups across all 
districts for boys and girls in 
foster care who are aged 12-
16-years old. 
 
The events are to be 
coordinated by Virtual School 
Kent and fostering support 
teams to have a “Keeping 
Safe and emotional wellbeing 
theme”. 
Children and young people to 
contribute to the planning and 
review of the Reflective 
Fostering programme via 

To review 
monthly on 
fostering 
Team 
Operational 
Dashboard. 
(TOD) 
 
Participation 
events and 
activities to 
be recorded 
in Foster 
Carer 
Annual 
Reviews.   
 
 
To aim to 
have groups 
running 
across the 
county 
during 2019-
2020.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Heads of 
Fostering 

Increase number of 
feedback forms received 
from children and young 
people. Increase use of 
MOMO once Fostering 
Social workers receive work 
smart phones.  
 
All foster carers to support 
children attending 
participation events 
(activities) at a minimum of 
3 events per year. To be 
recorded and tracked in the 
foster carers reviews. 
 
 
 
Virtual School Kent to 
complete evaluation 
following each 6-week 
programme. 
 
 
Explored within the annual 
review. 
 
 
 
 
Foster carers trained in 
reflective practice. 
 

Increase the voice of 
the child in foster 
carer annual reviews 
and supervision 
visits.  
 
 
 
Increase children and 
young people’s 
attendance at 
activities and 
participation events.  
 
 
 
 
 
For vulnerable young 
people to have a safe 
environment with 
trusted adults to learn 
about “Keeping Safe” 
and support their 
emotional well-being.  
 
 
 
 
 
Placement stability 
increases for children 
and in house carers 
are better supported, 

 

 
 
 
Fostering Team 
Managers 

 
 
Fostering 
Review Team 

 
 
 
 
VSK 

 
 
 
 
 
Fostering 
Support Team 
managers 
 
 
 
VSK 
Participation 
Officer and 
Head of 

P
age 64



Kent Fostering Business Plan: April 2019 – March 2020 

 

carers. 
 
Children and young 
people’s views gained 
in respect of information 
provided when children 
are placed with foster 
carers.  
 
 
 

focus and steering groups. 
 
Young People contribute and 
facilitate the Foster Carers 
conference – ‘The Life of 
Teenagers’ 
 
VSK Apprentice to be 
recruited with a lead on 
fostering. To be open to 
Foster carers birth children, 
Children in care and Care 
Leavers.  
 

 
 
 
November 
2019 
 
 
 
July 2019 

Fostering 
 
 
VSK 

leading to an 
increase in children 
being placed with in 
house foster carers.  
 
Foster carers have a 
wider understanding 
and skills to care for 
teenagers.  

To ensure children are 
visited as part of the 
allegation and 
complaints process.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
To learn from 
complaints and 
allegations to ensure a 
“Safe” fostering service. 
 
 
Safe Kent Workshops 
for all Unaccompanied 
Asylum Seeking 
Children (UASC) in 
foster carer.  

The outcomes of the 
allegations and complaints 
are to be given to children 
and young people, along with 
the joint visits and direct work 
to be completed as part of the 
allegation and/or complaint 
process. 
 
 
The fostering service to 
review themes and safe care 
practice together to ensure 
consistency and learning is 
shared. 
 
To facilitate the delivery of 
groups for UASC young 
people to provide advice and 
information on cultural 
differences and safety of 
peers. 

Guidelines 
are on Tri-x 
and are 
implemented 
into all social 
worker 
practice 

Independent 
Review Officers 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Children in care 
social workers 
 
 
 
 
Fostering social 
workers and 
team Managers 
 
Heads of 
Fostering 

All allegation and 
complaints to be tracked 
monthly by the fostering 
team managers and 
included in monthly audit 
return.   
 
 
 
 
This will be reviewed 
quarterly within the districts 
with the area Assistant 
Director, Head of Fostering, 
Service Managers, team 
managers, Virtual School 
Kent and LADO. 

To ensure there is 
learning across the 
fostering service from 
any allegations and 
complaints by 
reviewing Safe Care 
policy and guidelines. 
 
 
 
Process and practice 
updated in line with 
learning. 
 
 
 
Safer care for young 
people and children 
in foster homes.  

P
age 65



Kent Fostering Business Plan: April 2019 – March 2020 

 

Learning from children’s 
and young people’s 
feedback to be 
disseminated 
throughout the fostering 
service. 

The complaints and 
compliments are to be 
presented monthly at the 
corporate parenting 
management meeting; 
including learning points for 
the service. 
 
This will also be shared 
quarterly at team managers 
meetings and learning 
disseminated to foster carers 
through the following ways: 
- Foster carer advisory 

board; 
- Kent Foster Carer 

Association (KFCA); 
- Foster carer 

ambassadors; 
- Foster carer monthly 

support groups. 

Monthly Heads of 
Fostering 
 
Kent Fostering 
Agency to track 
complaints and 
allegations 
 
 
Fostering team 
managers 

Monitor and measure 
through the complaint’s 
tracker for Corporate 
Parenting. 
 
 
 
 
Aim for a reduction in 
complaints and allegations 
within Kent Fostering.  

A learning culture will 
be developed and 
measured by a 
reduction in repeat 
complaints of similar 
themes. 
 
 
To achieve a safer 
fostering service 
where young people 
report they feel safe 
and listened to. 
 
Foster carers are 
child and young 
people focused and 
actively promote 
attendance at the 
young people’s 
councils (YAC and 
OYPC). 

 
TARGET 3: Ensure all foster carers have a clear personal development plan for learning and training. (NMS 4.6, 20.4, 20.5, 20.9) 
(This includes training on safe care, keeping children safe, prevent, social media, gangs, CSE and understanding of behaviour and child development to include positive 
control and de-escalation). 

Objective  Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcomes 

All foster carers to have 
a Personal 
Development Plan. 
 
 
 
This plan is updated 
and reviewed each year 
within the annual 

All foster carers are to have a 
personal development plan 
(PDP) initially as part of the 
Kent Fostering assessment, 
this will then be updated each 
year. 
 
Training must be addressed 
as part of supervisions for the 

PDP to be 
completed 
at time of 
approval for 
new foster 
carers and 
yearly for 
existing 
carers.  

Fostering Social 
Workers for both 
Assessment and 
Support Teams 
 

Audit process to include 
evidence of completed 
personal development 
plans. 
 
Foster carer training is 
monitored on Liberi and 
reported monthly.  
 

To have skilled and 
knowledgeable 
foster carers able to 
care for a range of 
children with 
complex needs.  
 
 
 

P
age 66



Kent Fostering Business Plan: April 2019 – March 2020 

 

review. foster carers whilst non-
attendances would be 
addressed through annual 
review process and panel. 

The fostering scorecard now 
includes: 
- The percentage of foster 

carers who have 
completed core training 
within the first and/ or 
second year of approval. 

- Foster carers who have 
not completed training 
within the last 6/12 
months will be 
highlighted by the 
training coordinator. 

To increase the 
number of carers 
who have the 
knowledge and skills 
to care for our more 
vulnerable children.  

To have a clear 
structure of training for 
new and experienced 
foster carers with a 
specific programme of 
career development. 
 
 

New Courses for 2019 and 
2020 
- Winter Conference - 

Teenagers in Foster Carer  
- New Year’s Conference - 

Fostering Attachment 
Development Trauma and 
Mental Health 

- Non-Violence Resistance 
Training Programme 

- Education Champions – 
Fostering Network 

- Linked carers Safe Care 
Training  

- Online Safety Training 
- Managing Allegations 

Training 
- UASC Support Groups 
- Reflective Fostering 
- Transitions to Adulthood 
 
Conferences –  
‘The life of a teenager’ 
‘Attachment and Trauma’ 

Training 
calendar 
provided to 
all foster 
carers for 
2019-2020.  

Training 
Coordinator 

As part of the retention of 
our existing foster carers, 
we need to ensure we have 
a competitive offer of new 
training courses on a yearly 
basis.   

To offer a varied 
training calendar 
with opportunities 
for personal 
development and 
building new skills 
and knowledge with 
foster carers.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To increase the 
number of carers 
who can care for 
teenagers and 
children with mental 
health difficulties. 

P
age 67



Kent Fostering Business Plan: April 2019 – March 2020 

 

Foster carers to receive 
training in positive care 
and control of children, 
including training in de-
escalating problems 
and disputes. 

Fostering staff to deliver 
increased Fostering Changes 
training course for under and 
over 11’s, with 2 trained in 
each support team. 
 
 

Fostering 
Changes 
will be part 
of the yearly 
training 
calendar.  

Training 
Coordinator 

Increased placement 
stability monitored through 
the Fostering Scorecard. 

To improve our 
placement stability.  

To offer joint training for 
foster carers, social 
workers and other 
professionals. 

Reflective fostering 
programme: 
Fostering Staff and Foster 
Carers to be trained by Anna 
Freud Centre to deliver 
training to foster carers. 
 
The programme has been 
specifically designed to assist 
foster carers in using 
mentalising techniques to 
build and sustain positive 
working relationships with the 
children in their care and 
build placement stability. This 
will be delivered over 2 years 
starting at the end of 2018. 

2019 - 2020 Training 
Coordinator 
 
Head of 
Fostering - West 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Training 
Coordinator 
 
Heads of 
Fostering 

Increased placement 
stability monitored through 
the Fostering Scorecard. 

Increased 
placement stability 
with the 
partnerships 
working with the 
Sense of Belonging 
service. 

All foster carers are 
trained in appropriate 
Safe Care practice and 
all children have an 
individual Safe Care 
Plan on Liberi. 

Mandatory training 
programmes for the second 
foster carers will include 
online training in Safe Care 
and Prevent. 

April 2019 - 
2022 

 Foster carer training is 
monitored as part of Liberi, 
reporting monthly. 

Increased 
awareness and 
skills in keeping 
children safe in the 
fostering home and 
community 
measured by a 
reduction in 
allegations. 
 

P
age 68



Kent Fostering Business Plan: April 2019 – March 2020 

 

To improve 
understanding of 
teenage developmental 
needs. 

Fostering support teams to 
facilitate adolescent 
workshops, and support 
groups to increase 
confidence and skills in 
caring for teenagers. 
 
Level 2 and 3 foster carers 
and Foster Carer Sessional 
Workers to provide peer and 
practical support for foster 
carers caring for challenging 
and complex children and 
young people. 

Ongoing Service 
Managers 
 
 
 
 
 
Fostering 
Support Teams 

Increase the use of our 
foster carer vacancies for 
teenagers.  

Increase the 
numbers of foster 
carers accepting 
teenage 
placements. 
Maximise the use of 
our in-house foster 
placements.  

Introduce a Foster carer 
App or Website to 
access the Handbook, 
so there is one source 
of information. 

The Information in foster 
carer handbook needs further 
updates to ensure all correct 
policies and procedures are 
accessible. 
 
 
A Kent fostering App or 
interactive Website, to 
provide foster carers with 
immediate and accessibility 
to resources and guidance to 
complete the fostering 
task(s). 

December 
2019 

Head of 
Fostering 
supported by 
Transformation 
Project  

Foster carers demonstrate 
they are up to date with 
policies, procedures and 
guidance measured in 
annual reviews and 
supervisions. 

To have one 
electronic source of 
information for 
Foster carers.  

 
  

P
age 69



Kent Fostering Business Plan: April 2019 – March 2020 

 

TARGET 4: To maintain an effective strategy to ensure sufficient foster carers are responsive to current and predicted future demands on the 
service. (NMS 13.1, 21.1, 21.2, 21.5) 
(This recommendation is made within the context of recruiting a sufficient number of foster carers who can accommodate sibling groups, to reduce the need for exemptions). 

Objective  Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance 
management 

Outcomes 

To ensure the better 
use of current 
vacancies, review and 
de-register where 
carers are unavailable 
and to make use of the 
‘on hold’ policy. 
 
 
 
 
 

All inactive foster carers to be 
reviewed during the annual 
review process or prior to this 
where appropriate, to ensure 
maximum use of in-house 
vacancies. 
 
The ‘on hold’ policy is to be 
used where carers require a 
break from the fostering role. 
 
Develop a streamlined 
process around the variations 
of approval to be approved 
directly by ADM. 

Annual 
Review 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sept 2019 

Fostering team 
managers 
 
 
 
 
 
MIU 
 
 
 
 
Head of 
Fostering 

Support teams are to 
review inactive carers, 
supported by the fostering 
review team, Total 
Placement Service and 
Management Information 
Unit. 

To make use of all 
potential vacancies.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Wider availability of 
foster carers 

The recruitment 
strategy reviewed 
annually to reflect the 
changing 
demographics and the 
Sufficiency Strategy. 

The website is to be updated 
with new images and clear 
branding for ‘Kent fostering 
service’. This will be 
frequently reviewed to keep it 
up to date. 
 
Recruitment activity focused 
on targeted needs including 
Hub Families and Parent and 
Child Placement, alongside 
carers that are resilient in 
caring for harder to place 
children and young people.  

September 
2019 

Head of fostering 
 
Recruitment 
coordinator 
 
 
 
 
Communications 
team 

The communications team 
are to provide services by 
reporting on the number of 
website reaches, analysis 
on where people have seen 
information about 
recruitment events, and 
overall increase in 
applications following 
fostering recruitment 
advertising and events. 

To recruit 120 new 
foster carers.  

P
age 70



Kent Fostering Business Plan: April 2019 – March 2020 

 

Annual recruitment 
budget to include 
specific targeting 
campaigns. 

Increased use of social 
media; including Facebook, 
Twitter and Google to 
promote the service and 
increase applications. 
Introduction of Drop in 
Events. 
 
Feedback collated from 
carers leaving the service 
and new carers to improve 
carer experience of Kent 
Fostering and support 
provided. 
 
Target for foster carers 
To recruit 120 new fostering 
households registered foster 
carers by April 2020. 

Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 
6 monthly 
reports to 
evaluate to 
the 
outcomes. 
 
April 2019 
and October 
2019 
  

Head of fostering Retention of foster carers to 
be evaluated using 
information from exit 
interviews undertaken by 
Assessment Social 
Workers.  
 
Post approval interviews to 
be completed 6 months 
after approval, to learn from 
and review the recruitment 
process and initially support 
provided. 
 
 
Effectiveness to be 
measured through post 
approval 6-month interview 
with new carers. 
 
 

To improve 
retention of new 
foster carers and 
attract new 
applications for Kent 
Fostering.  Fostering 

Assessment 
Managers 
 
Fostering Review 
Manager 
 
 
 
 

Recruitment 
coordinator 

Foster Carer 
Ambassadors to 
support the recruitment 
and retention of foster 
carers. 
 
 
 
 
 
To celebrate Foster 
Carers, work with 
children through 
celebration events.  

30 Kent Foster Carer 
Ambassadors have been 
recruited to promote fostering 
at recruitment and fostering 
events, organise ‘meet and 
greet’ events in each area 
and co-facilitate and assist 
with updating policies and 
procedures. 
 
Celebration Awards 
Ceremony October 2019 

Quarterly 
Ambassadors 
meetings with 
Head of 
Fostering 
 
 
 

Heads of 
Fostering 

Ambassador annual report 
 
 
 
 
Panel chairs report and 
feedback. 
 
Increase in the recruitment 
and retention of foster 
carers to be tracked 
through data provided by 
Management Information 
Unit. (MIU) 

Meet target 120 
foster carers and 
improve retention. 

P
age 71



Kent Fostering Business Plan: April 2019 – March 2020 

 

Foster carers receive 
relevant support 
services. 

Introduce a nominated carer 
policy for carers to provide 
additional support for them to 
use their 2-week holiday 
entitlement. 
 
 
 
Delegated authority to be 
reviewed to support children, 
young people and foster 
carers. 

March 2019 CSWT / CIC / 
Fostering 

To have a clearer guidance 
on the use of delegated 
authority for sleepovers with 
foster carers family and 
friends. 
 
Children and young people 
will have links with foster 
carers extended 
family/friends to support 
respite arrangements and 
placement stability. 

Reduce the 
numbers of 
fostering 
placements used for 
foster carers A/L, by 
increasing the use 
of Nominated carers 
and use of 
delegated authority.   

Team Managers 

TARGET 5: To ensure that the Head of Fostering regularly monitors all records that are kept by the service; this should ensure compliance with 
the service’s policies and to identify specific incidents and areas for concern, patterns and trends. (25.1, 25.2, 25.3) 
(This recommendation is made within the context of addressing the variable recording of foster carer annual reviews, panel reports, supervision and case records). 
Objective  Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcomes 

Foster carer files are to 
be audited in line with 
CYPE to achieve 
consistency in practice 
across the county. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Safeguarding Unit are 
developing a tool in line with 
CYPE for meaningful audits. 
 
Team Managers to review the 
TOD every month and supply 
a summary for the Head of 
Fostering and Assistant 
Director.  
 
Learning from SCR Reviews. 
 
 

September 
2019 

Heads of 
fostering 
 
 
Team Managers 
 
 
 
 
 
Heads of 
fostering 

The themes and learning 
will be fed back at children 
in care meetings along with 
the operational fostering 
manager meetings. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Improvement in 
consistency of 
recording on Liberi 
across the fostering 
teams.  
 
Improvement in 
compliance. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

P
age 72



Kent Fostering Business Plan: April 2019 – March 2020 

 

TARGET 6: Handling allegations and suspicions of harm (NMS 22) 

Objective  Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcomes 

To have a central 
system for recording 
complaints and 
allegations with clear 
leadership in 
management of 
allegations, with use of 
performance 
management where 
appropriate. 

Allegations policy to be 
reviewed and updated. 
 
Risk Assessment Chronology 
to be used for all new carers 
and with carers who are 
subject to complaints, 
allegations and standards of 
care issues.  
 
All allegations are recorded 
on the carer’s record on 
Liberi and presented to the 
fostering panel. 
 
Standards of Care issues to 
be completed on Liberi and 
have management oversight. 
    
Peer support training is to be 
provided yearly to ensure 
carers are supported and 
understand the process.   
 

August 
2019 
 
 
Monthly 
 
 
 
 
 
Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
Training 
Coordinator 
 
 
 
Ongoing 

Head of Fostering 
LADO 
 
Kent Fostering 
Agency 
Coordinator 
 
Training 
Coordinator 

Social media checks and 
LADO evaluation meetings 
clear within the Kent 
fostering allegations 
procedures. 
 
All fostering teams to follow 
the flowchart for allegations, 
supported by the LADO 
service.  
 
 
 
All new applications to foster 
will have Kent Risk and 
Vulnerability assessment 
completed. This will also be 
completed following any 
allegation or complaint 
against a registered foster 
carer.  
 
 
 

Clear record of all 
allegations and 
complaints against 
Kent Foster carers.  
 
 
Service is able to 
learn from Serious 
Case Reviews and 
review practice.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 73



Kent Fostering Business Plan: April 2019 – March 2020 

 

‘Managing Allegations’ 
training to be provided to 
carers with how to manage 
the emotional and practical 
impact of an allegation and 
how this influences future 
practice. 
 
The head of service and 
LADO manager are to meet 
regularly to review and 
monitor allegations and 
practice. 
 
Quarterly meetings in each 
division with the Assistant 
Director for Corporate 
Parenting, service managers, 
fostering team managers, 
VSK, LADO manager and 
head of fostering to be 
implemented to consider all 
allegations and complaints. 
 
. 

Manager of the 
LADO service 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Kent Fostering 
Agency 
Coordinator to 
track allegations 
across the county 
against foster 
carers 

Allegations to be reviewed 
using the fostering 
dashboard/scorecard for 
recording.  
 
 
 
 
Liberi implementation of a 
standards of care tab 
support consistent recording 
of standards of care issues. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Senior management 
oversight and 
consistency of 
practice. 

 
  

P
age 74



Kent Fostering Business Plan: April 2019 – March 2020 

 

TARGET 7: Payments to Foster Carers (NMS 28) 

Objective  Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcomes 

The foster carers 
payments and 
expenses are to be 
reviewed yearly in line 
with Kent County 
Council’s payments and 
charging policy. 
 
Payment policy to be 
implemented. 

We will ensure that payments 
are in line with other local 
authorities, national DfE 
guidance and are competitive 
with Kent Independent 
Fostering Agencies. 
 
 
Produce payments guidelines 
for foster carers 

Yearly Assistant Director 
for Corporate 
Parenting 
 
 
 
 
 
Head of Fostering 

By reviewing at the 
beginning of the financial 
year in line with the Kent 
County Council payment 
and charging policy. 
 
Payments for foster carers 
are to be published onto the 
fostering website and in 
Kent County Council 
publications of payments. 

A clear payment 
structure for Kent 
Fostering.  

A review of the 
Payments for Skills 
Level 2 and 3. 

To review the function and 
format of the payment for 
skills panel.  
 
Review the competency 
assessment framework and 
update in line with Annual 
Review evidence.  
 
Review the annual review 
form to streamline and make 
the report more purposeful 
and a reflection of the foster 
carers full year of fostering 
while evidencing competency 
and the national minimum 
standards. 
 
 

August 
2019 

Head of Fostering 
 
Foster Carer 
Ambassadors 

Foster carers and staff need 
a clear process to provide 
evidence for the 
consideration of Level 2 and 
3 payments. This will be 
measured in achieving 
consistent practice across 
the county. 
 
Training to be delivered in 
line with the updated 
competency framework. 
 
The training coordinator and 
head of fostering are to 
review competencies, jointly 
with foster carers 
ambassadors. 

To ensure a 
competitive 
payment structure 
and career 
development for 
Kent Foster carers.  

Training 
coordinator 

Foster carer 
ambassadors 

P
age 75



Kent Fostering Business Plan: April 2019 – March 2020 

 

Consider the structure in line 
with the IFA payment 
structures and how to recruit 
experienced foster carers to 
join Kent Fostering. 

Fostering review 
Team Manager 

 

TARGET 8: Foster carers are to receive the support and supervision that they need to care properly for the children that are placed with them; 
supervision and support to foster carers. (NMS 3.8, 21.1, 21.10, 21.12) 

Objective  Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcomes 

To increase support to 
children and young 
people through the life-
long links pilot. 

Fostering to support life-long 
links through providing details 
of children matched for 
permanence at the fostering 
panel. Training and 
awareness will be provided 
while raising awareness with 
foster carers and fostering 
staff. 

Ongoing Head of 
Fostering 

This will be measured 
through the working group 
meeting, attended by the 
head of fostering. 
 
 

Increased number of 
children and young 
people included 
within the project. 

Claire Barton for 
family group 
conferencing 

To increase the 
placement stability and 
reduce numbers of 
moves for children 
coming into care by 
offering additional 
support to foster carers. 
Alongside improving the 
retention of Kent 
County Council in 
house foster carers 
through the provision of 
additional support. 

To continue to provide an 
offer to foster carers for 
increasing placement stability 
through the following options 
for additional support: 
 

 Activity centers / 
residential weekends 
(Swattenden and Bewl 
Water),  

 10 hub families to be 
recruited for the county to 
support 3-4 foster carers 
per area with complex 
young people and provide 
emergency and ongoing 
support. 

March 2020 Head of fostering  
 
 
Headteacher of 
Virtual School 
Kent 
 
 
 
Heads of 
fostering 

This will be measured 
through the fostering 
scorecard to achieve a 
reduction in the numbers of 
moves the children and 
young people will have 
between fostering 
placements. 
 
This will be measured 
through the children and 
foster carers review 
feedback and joint working 
with independent review 
officers. 
 
This will be measured 

Improvement in 
placement stability 
and foster carer 
retention.  
 
Joint working with 
support and 
assessment teams 
to facilitate support 
groups and skills to 
foster course. 
 
All Support social 
workers to attend a 
minimum of 1 
recruitment event 
per year.  

 

P
age 76



Kent Fostering Business Plan: April 2019 – March 2020 

 

 To provide crisis support 
to foster carers through 
the sense of belonging 
clinical psychologist. 

 Recruit Foster Carer 
Sessional Workers to 
provide bespoke 
packages of support to 
foster carers. 

 

through the fostering 
scorecard to reduce the 
number of foster carers 
leaving the service. 

 
 
Enhanced quality 
and availability of 
foster care in Kent 

Increase in the 
availability of 
emergency bed 
provisions and 
recruitment to 
assessment beds. 

Develop a more stable and 
consistent emergency and 
assessment provision for 
children and young people to 
improve placement stability. 

 Head of fostering 
 
Manager of TPS 
 
Early Help  

Increase in emergency bed 
provision to 10 beds across 
the county. 
 
Recruit one assessment 
bed foster carer for each 
fostering support team. (5 
for the county)  

To be measured by 
achieving an 
increase in an 
emergency and 
assessment 
provision to include 
OOH’s. 
 
Foster carers feeling 
supported to provide 
children and young 
people in crisis a 
secure and 
supportive 
environment. 
 
 
 

 
  

P
age 77



Kent Fostering Business Plan: April 2019 – March 2020 

 

Target 9: Preparation for in house foster placement (NMS 11, 15.1, 15.2)) 

Objective  Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcomes 

Children are carefully 
matched to a foster 
placement and 
wherever possible given 
information about the 
foster carers before 
arrival. 
 
 
 
 

Matching processes 
meet the statutory 
requirements. 
 
 
 
 
Review Skills to Foster 
Course and develop 
Kent specific pre-
approval training.  
 
 
 

Every foster carer has an up 
to date profile with 
photographs that can be 
printed off and given to 
children before the start of 
the placement.  Even in an 
emergency, the profile can be 
emailed to the placing social 
worker, to be shown to a child 
using current technology. 
Total Placement Service 
undertakes all planning and 
matching of in-house 
fostering placements. 
 
Respite Matching Forms and 
process to be reviewed and 
implements 
 
Central Fostering 
assessment Teams to review 
Skills to Foster training  

For all in 
house 
placements  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
April 2019 
 
 
 
 
May 2019 
 
 
 
March 2020 
 
 

Service 
managers 

Quality Assurance form to 
be used for all referrals to 
ensure appropriate 
information and matching 
recorded (oversight by 
Team Manager). 
 
Carers to ask children 
whether they received 
carer’s profiles prior to 
placement. This to be 
recorded in carer’s 
supervision.  
 
 
 
 
 
To review the current pre-
approval training and update 
with Kent specific course.  
 
 

To increase the use 
of carers profile for 
every placement.  
 
To improve the 
quality of matching 
placements.  
 
 
 
 
Clear matching 
oversight and 
safeguarding 
considered and 
recorded on Liberi 
 
 
New pre-approval 
training to be 
designed for 
launched in 
2020/2021. 

Team managers 

Head of fostering 

TPS 
 
 
 
 
Heads of 
Fostering  

Assessment 
Team Managers 

P
age 78



Kent Fostering Business Plan: April 2019 – March 2020 

 

Carers are given full 
information about the 
child.  
 
The fostering service 
and foster carer 
contribute effectively to 
each child’s Placement 
Plan review and 
statutory review of the 
child’s care plan. 

Referrals to be quality 
assured at point of referral 
and returned to children 
social workers if not of good 
quality.   
 
All Placement planning 
meetings are undertaken 
within the statutory 5 working 
days with the child / young 
person and parents present 
where appropriate. 
 
Individual safe care plans are 
completed for every child at 
placement arrangement 
meeting.  
 
All carers to receive copy of 
referral, risk assessment, 
delegated authority and 
placement arrangements 
form for each child placed in 
their care.  
 

For every 
in-house 
placement  

Fostering team 
managers 
 
 
 
 
Fostering social 
workers 
 
Fostering social 
workers 
 
 
Children’s social 
workers 
 
 
 
Children’s social 
workers 

Total placement service to 
quality assure referrals and 
timescales for placement 
arrangements meeting.  
 
Report to Child in Care 
meeting on outcome of 
audits and areas requiring 
improvement.   
 
Carers to be provided with a 
copy of the placement 
planning meeting within 5 
days of the meeting being 
undertaken. 
 
Feedback from IRO’s. 

Improve the 
performance for the 
completion of 
placement plans 
undertaken within 5 
working days.  

Safe Care plans are 
triangulated, quality 
assured and 
completed at the 
start of placement 
and updated to 
reflect any changes. 
To be shared with 
child, in an age 
appropriate way by 
their social worker.  

 
  

P
age 79



Kent Fostering Business Plan: April 2019 – March 2020 

 

TARGET 10: Transition to Care Leavers Service. (NMS 12.1) 

Objective  Action to be undertaken Timescales  Lead Performance management Outcome 

Kent Fostering Service 
to have comprehensive 
arrangements for 
preparing and 
supporting young 
people to make the 
transition to 
independence. 
 
Young People to be 
allocated a Personal 
Advisor at aged 17.5 
years to support and 
lead on transition.  
 
 
Increase the number of 
young people in 
“Staying Put” 
arrangements.  

Updated policy for leaving 
care including Staying Put 
arrangements.  This is 
detailed on Tri X and within 
the Fostering Handbook.  
 
Transition workshops for 
foster carers and staff. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Supporting Foster carers to 
understand Staying Put and 
updating the policy. 

Yearly 
transition 
joint training 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Staying Put 
policy 
updated 
July 2019.  

Head of 
fostering 
 
 
 
 
Service 
Manager 18 
plus Care 
Leavers service 
 
 
Heads of 
Fostering 
 
 
Assistant 
Director for 
Corporate 
Parenting.  

Young people tracked from 
age 17 years by Care 
Leavers service to ensure 
transition at 18.  

Policy and update 
has been delivered to 
foster carers through 
updated training for 
all carers caring for 
children aged 16-18 
years. 

P
age 80



Kent Fostering Business Plan: April 2019 – March 2020 

 

A clear transition 
process for our 16-18 
young people, following 
their feedback that they 
are unclear about 
available options.  A 
clear process for young 
people, foster carers 
and social workers. 

Continue to work with IRO 
service to ensure that the 
transition process for young 
people and foster carers is 
clearly recorded in their 
pathway plan. 
Continue with a close 
working relationship with 
Catch 22 provider, for 
supported lodgings.   
 
Personal advisors to be 
allocated to young people at 
the age of 17.5 years to 
support and advise.  

Head of Service 
18 plus  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Head of 
Fostering 

 

Head of Fostering to attend 
Catch 22 quarterly meetings, 
to ensure joint working and 
use of recruitment events. 

Social workers and 
foster carers will 
have a clear checklist 
and plan for young 
people, including all 
the services and 
support options 
available.  Flowchart 
for processes and 
services to be 
designed by Care 
Leavers Service.  

 
 

P
age 81



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Education 

 Matt Dunkley, CBE, Corporate Director of Children, Young People and 
Education 

To: Corporate Parenting Panel 25th July 2019 

Subject: Review of Corporate Parenting Pilot Scheme: KCC acting as a 
rent guarantor for Care Leavers including accommodation types.  

Classification: Unrestricted  

 
Summary: 
 
 
 
 
Recommendation: 

 
This report provides Members with an overview of progress made on 
the previous challenge card presented to the panel and agreement 
that KCC, in its role as Corporate Parents, can act as a guarantor for 
our young people leaving care.  
  
Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the 
Review of the Pilot Scheme with progress to date and AGREE that 
the scheme can continue to be developed.    
 

 
 
1.  Challenge Card Issued 
 
1.1 A challenge was issued by the Young Adult Council (YAC) in June 2017 – ‘if a young 

person over school leaving age decided to be fully independent and work full time 
paying their own rent, would KCC as a 'Corporate Parent' act as the young 
person's guarantor? It was agreed at Corporate Parenting panel on 22nd March 2018, 
that KCC could act in the role of guarantor for our Care Leavers and that the proposal for 
a pilot scheme would be progressed.   
 
 

1.2 The Care Leavers Service have undertaken a 12-month pilot starting on 1st July 2018, 
taking us through to the end of June 2019. Due to the potential financial risks to KCC and 
considering the learning from Devon County Council, we started the pilot on a small scale 
with the aim of using the learning to underpin a wider policy change in 2019.   

 

 

1.3 As part of our research, Devon County Council kindly shared their learning and model 
which was then used to inform the Kent pilot scheme.  Devon started their pilot scheme, 
offering to be a guarantor only to lower risk young people, e.g. those at university, in 
employment etc. Further to the feedback of Members at the Corporate parenting Panel 
on 22nd March 2018 the pilot scheme included all care leavers thus ensuring that the 
most vulnerable young people could benefit from the pilot. The application form and KCC 
templates have been set up and used throughout the pilot period. Personal Advisors 
have received training to ensure they identify appropriate young people and can support 
them with the application form. The agreement for KCC to act as a rent guarantor, is 
approved by Paul Startup, Head of Service for 18plus Care Leavers, acting on behalf of 
KCC and having overall responsibility for the tracking and monitoring of financial 
implications.   

 

Page 83

Agenda Item 9



 

 
 
 
2. The Offer to be a Guarantor.  
 
2.1 There is no evidence of a prohibition on a Local Authority acting as a Guarantor. The 

Localism Act 2011, states s1 ‘A local authority has power to do anything that individuals 
may generally do’. The 18plus Care Leavers Service already has in place an offer to care 
leavers to provide them with a rent deposit and one month’s rent in advance, so the 
guarantor pilot scheme, has enhanced this offer by Kent being a guarantor against 
unpaid rent for the first 6 months of the young person’s tenancy.   

 

2.2 As Guarantor, KCC hold the financial risk that, in the event that the care leaver defaulted 
on their tenancy, including damages, the Landlord could seek to call in the rent deposit, 
lost rental income and reparations, resulting in a financial cost to the Council. A care 
leaver may be given notice to quit their tenancy and may seek KCC to act as Guarantor 
on more than one occasion. The likelihood is that any guarantee called in may not be 
recovered and, therefore, there would be budgetary implications on an ongoing annual 
basis. The 12-month period for a pilot has given an indication of the financial implications 
for future years.  

 
2.3 Our aim with the offer to be a guarantor, is that we can open up the private rental market 

to our young people, strengthening their case and giving them more options of 
accommodation. The 18plus Service already have links to the local housing forums, 
where private landlords could be approached. There would also be further scope to 
review those young people in both supported and semi-independent accommodation, 
with a view to moving them into better quality independent rental properties, which could 
mean lower costs.  

 
2.4 The pilot has tested out:  
 

 Financial implications by testing the numbers of young people who default on rental 
payments. 
 

 Whether it opens up more choice of private rental accommodation, in terms of both 
quality and location. 
 

 Review of young people in semi-independent accommodation, as to whether any can 
be moved into rental properties by using the enhanced offer of KCC acting as a 
guarantor.   
 

 Does the Guarantor offer directly impact upon better outcomes for our Care Leavers in 
securing long term quality housing options?  

 
 

3. Evaluation of the Rent Guarantor pilot scheme 

 

3.1     During the pilot period 26 Care Leavers have gone through the Rent Guarantor Scheme.  

This exceeds the target set at the beginning of the pilot which was 25. 

 

3.2     As we would expect the ages of the successful applicants ranged between 20 and 23.  

 

3.3     We have had 14 successful male applicants and 12 successful female applicants. 
Page 84



 

 

3.4   Our Care Leavers have successfully found properties, with the support of their Personal 

Advisors, all over the country. These places include Bournemouth; London; Portsmouth; 

Northampton; Leeds; as well as properties within Kent and Medway. 

 

3.5  We have not had any of our Care Leavers failing to meet their rental payments. The 

successful applicants are either in work or are in study. Therefore, for the 12-month 

period there has been no financial loss to Kent County Council.  

 

3.6  We have had six unsuccessful applications during the pilot period. Three of these were 

unsuccessful because they were unable to provide the required evidence to show that 

they were sufficiently financially independent to cover rental costs. 3 were assessed as 

being financially independent but were unable to find a suitable property. 

 

3.7   The average cost of each successful application, which includes the commitment on our 

Local Offer to pay the first month’s rent and deposit, is £1100.    

 
 

4.  Analysis 
 
4.1   If we consider the original scope of the pilot, to identify up 25 Care Leavers, to assess 

and use the Rent Guarantor Scheme, then we have been successful. 
 
4.2  The pilot was open to all Care Leavers but did have a clear assessment process to 

determine whether the scheme was right for each applicant and specifically whether they 
could be financially independent. Ultimately this has meant that whilst it is open to all our 
young people, it is those that are in employment or at university that have benefitted 
most. So, whilst our intention was to ensure all young people could access the scheme, 
in reality it has proved to be similar to Devon’s model, in which those young people being 
most appropriate for the scheme, have been those in employment or higher education.  

 
4.3   The model of assessment has proved to be robust and effective as we have not had any 

of our Care Leavers defaulting on Rent Payments or requiring any further financial 
assistance from Kent County Council. 

 
4.4 The scheme has been widely publicised within the service and a leaflet has been 

produced. Each arrangement has been closely tracked and monitored, to ensure that had 
there been any difficulties for the young person in paying rent, these would have been 
identified quickly.  

 
4.5   The scheme has required the support of our Business Support staff, as some of the 

letting agencies have complex arrangements for completing appropriate documents. On 
some occasions this has been a time-consuming exercise for which Business Support 
has been pivotal to the success of the rental process for our young people.  

 
4.6   In the initial months of the pilot we experienced some difficulty engaging letting agencies 

and landlords in the scheme. They were not used to dealing with corporate guarantors. 
Therefore, we were required to undertake a lot of work to offer reassurance and 
information to progress the scheme, but these efforts have been rewarded by our young 
people accessing private rental properties that previously they have been unable to.   

 

Page 85



 

4.7   Given the success of the pilot and the effective groundwork undertaken, the Care Leavers 
service proposes to continue the scheme, using the current assessment model. The 
model provides a framework for success for our Care Leavers and some reassurance 
and confidence from the perspective of Kent County Council.    

 
4.8 In reviewing those young people in Semi Independent provision, they have not been the 

young people that have accessed the Rent Guarantor scheme, as further work has been 
needed to support them to become fully independent and financially more secure. The 
service is currently working closely with young people and using their pathway plan, to 
identify those where we can work towards securing more independent accommodation 
as they gain the skills and support required to move on.  

  

5      Overview of Accommodation Types  
 
5.1   Shared accommodation 
 

Shared accommodation for Children in Care (CIC) and Care Leavers covers a range of 
accommodation types used to accommodate predominately small groups of young 
people. These properties are spread across Kent, so that Care Leavers can access 
college, training or work and be in an area they want to live. Shared houses are no bigger 
than four bedrooms, the young people living there will have been matched to help them 
get on well together and each person will have their own bedroom and share the kitchen, 
lounge and bathroom(s).  
 
Shared houses can help young people to prepare for their future, with the help of their 
personal advisor they can develop their independent living skills and learn to manage 
problems as they arise. Eligible young people are provided with a short-term occupation 
agreement.  This agreement will include a rental agreement to enable housing benefit to 
be claimed (where applicable). The tenant is self-supporting and has the 
skills/competencies to be able to live independently. 
 
The average placement cost is £125 per week. 

  
 5.2  Safety Pod 
 

The Safety Pod is temporary two/three bedroomed houses for young people that need 
emergency accommodation, the maximum period a young person is permitted to stay in 
this accommodation is 28 days. During this time a Personal Advisor, as well as the 
accommodation advisor will look to identify alternative accommodation for the young 
person, and they are normally moved to new accommodation during the 28-day period. 
This accommodation has been used for vulnerable young people (including 
Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC) from the age of 16. 
 
The average placement cost is £120 per week. 

. 
 5.3 Kent SAiFE - (Supported Accommodation in a family environment, also known as 

Supported Lodgings) 
 

Kent SAiFE is a form of temporary supported accommodation with support provided by a 
host who is a private individual (or individuals) accommodating a young person/s in their 
home. This service provides accommodation and support for young people, so they can 
live within a family-type environment whilst acquiring the skills and emotional resilience 
necessary to live independently on their pathway from care.  

 

Page 86



 

The approved hosts within this scheme receive comprehensive training plus ongoing 
support and supervision from dedicated supported accommodation officers. 
 
The average placement cost is £185-225 per week. This service is commissioned by 
Catch 22.  

 
5.4    Supported accommodation  
 

Supported accommodation provides a flexible service that enables vulnerable people, 
including Care Leavers, to live independently.  These placements are offered through a 
range of organisations and provide both accommodation and support to young people. 
This includes assisting with tasks such as: 
 

 Setting up and maintaining the home/tenancy. 

 Security, health and safety in the home. 

 Home management and life skills. 

 Well-being and general support. 

 Advice, advocacy and liaison. 
 
An 18+ Personal Advisor will offer guidance and support to help a young person move 
to this type of accommodation and continue to support them once there. 

 
5.5 Staying Put 
 

Staying Put is where a Care Leaver continues to live with their foster carer after their 
18th birthday. Many young people have already been Staying Put in the past, but the 
law changed in May 2014 so all local authorities must support such arrangements if this 
is in the young person’s interest and that of the carer. Care Leavers can continue to live 
with people they know and who have supported them as they have grown up. It means 
that they do not have to leave their former foster carers until they are ready or are 21 
years old.  It can help young people to get into, or continue, in education and training 
whilst supporting them as they transition into adulthood. 

 
 5.6 University accommodation 
 

The University will assist in finding the first year’s accommodation.  This is usually on 
site (halls of residence) or near to the campus. After the first year, students will find their 
own accommodation, this type of accommodation may often include joining with others 
to share a property. The landlord or agent of these types of properties may want a 
deposit or ask for someone to be a guarantor for the rent, the 18+ Service can now 
assist with these areas. Students often require accommodation during breaks which the 
18+ Service will also help with.  
 

 5.7 Living independently  
 

Living independently is a big step and usually the next stage for a Care Leaver who has 
been living in another accommodation option. As part of their Pathway Plan, a Personal 
Advisor will help Care Leavers prepare and move into independent accommodation 
where they will hold a tenancy or occupancy agreement. The Personal Advisor will 
assist a Care Leaver with applications and bidding for social housing through one of the 
District Councils, or in identifying a private landlord who is able to offer safe, suitable 
accommodation.  They will also assist Care Leavers in planning and budgeting and 
using their setting up home allowance.  
 

Page 87



 

The 18+ Service will provide a deposit and rent in advance where required and may be 
able to act as a rent guarantor to a landlord if one is needed. As part of planning 
towards independence, all Care Leavers are provided with tenancy training and a 
certificate of completion. The setting up allowance supports with the first rent payment 
and any items needed by the young person in relation to independent living. The 
“Setting up Allowance” is £2,000. 
 

 5.8 Semi-independent accommodation 
 

A shared living provision where an adult will be on-site from time-to-time. For some 
young people a Semi-independent placement may be an appropriate option and the 
length of time will vary dependent upon the needs of the young person, but all will have 
a level of support tailored to offer stability and meet the needs of a young person 
identified in their pathway plan. 
 

 The average placement cost is £368-432 per week. 
 
5.9 Housing Related Support (HRS) 
 

Currently this is a form of temporary supported accommodation for non-statutory young 
people who are not ready to live independently for a variety of reasons. This type of 
accommodation could be provided by an individual, company or voluntary organisation 
and will include onsite support (e.g. training flat, Foyer). The young person will also be 
expected to have access support and guidance to help them gain the skills they need to 
live independently. A new HRS Service has been in place from 1st October 2018 and will 
prioritise statutory young people and 16-17 homeless vulnerable young people. 

 
 The average placement cost is £172 per week. 
 
6 Data for Accommodation Types 

 
This data shows the position as at the 30th June 2019. 
 

Accommodation codes Total 

B - With parents or relatives 176 

C - Mental Health Based Accommodation 16 

C - Residential Care Home (Only relates to 
placements made by the disability service) 6 

C - Residential Educational Setting (Only 
relates to placements made by the disability 
service) 12 

D - Family Centre/Mother and Baby Unit 
(Housing Related Support Placements that 
provide a mother and baby provision. i.e. 
Cantercare, Canterbury and Life Housing, 
Dartford) 1 

D - Supported Accommodation 149 

E - Supported lodgings 52 

G - Gone Abroad 4 

K - Ordinary lodgings 15 

R - Residence Not Known 57 

T – Foyers 17 

U - KCC Contracted accommodation (self- 458 
Page 88



 

supporting) 

U - KCC Contracted accommodation (with 
floating support) 12 

U - Private Rented (self-supporting) 223 

U - Private Rented (with floating support) 5 

U - Social Housing (self-supporting) 158 

U - Social Housing (with floating support) 3 

V - Emergency accommodation 11 

W - Bed and breakfast 1 

X - In custody 43 

Y – Staying with friends 66 

Y - Other accommodation 39 

Z - With Former foster carers 100 

Not Recorded 75 

Grand Total 1699 

 
Note: Where accommodation type is not recorded or not known, this relates to a small cohort of 
unaccompanied asylum young people, who went missing from Kent on or very shortly after their entry into 
the UK, who legally have to remain as part of Kent’s overall figures for Care Leavers.  

 
7  Conclusion  
 

The 12-month pilot has seen 26 young people who are care leavers successfully secure 
accommodation where Kent County Council are acting as a rent guarantor. It has 
undoubtedly increased the access to better quality rental properties within the local 
community and for those young people studying at university outside of Kent. There 
have been no financial risk implications in the 12-month pilot period, as no young 
person has defaulted on their rent. Whilst there is a risk that this could change in the 
future, the system that is in place to track and monitor those on the scheme, would 
continue to be effective in highlighting any problems immediately, thus minimising this 
risk. The Care Leavers Service recommend that KCC acting as a Rent Guarantor is 
agreed as a policy change and included into our Local Offer for Care Leavers.   

 

6.      Recommendations: 

         Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the Review of the Pilot 

Scheme with progress to date and AGREE that the scheme can continue to be 

developed. 

 

 
7. Background Documents 

None  
 
8. Contact details 
 

 

Lead Officer 
Caroline Smith 
Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting 
03000 415091 
caroline.smith@kent.gov.uk  
 

Lead Director 
Sarah Hammond 
Director, Integrated Children’s Services (East) 
Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk  

Page 89

mailto:caroline.smith@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

From:            Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and   
Education. 

 
Matt Dunkley, CBE, Corporate Director of Children, Young People and 
Education. 

 
To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 25th July 2019 
 
Subject: Narrowing the attainment gap between Children in Care and their peers. 
 
Classification: Unrestricted 
 

Summary:  This report provides Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel with an 
overview of 2018 Summer Examination results in relation to narrowing the 
gap in attainment and accelerating progress for Kent Children in Care. It 
also gives an insight into how the Virtual School effectively tracks and 
monitors data down to an individual level. 

 
Recommendation:. The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to NOTE the work of the Virtual 

School Kent in promoting the attainment and progress of its children and 
young people in care. 

 
1. Introduction 

 
1.1 VSK continually strive towards ‘diminishing the difference’ in attainment and progress for 

Children in Care (CIC) in Kent in comparison to their CIC peers nationally. This report includes 
the verified SATs and GCSE data from Summer 2018 which reflects the measurable 
achievements of each ‘eligible’ Kent CIC in year 6 and 11 and incorporates the NEXUS results 
on the national picture for CIC so that comparisons/gaps are able to be viewed. The last section 
looks at how VSK measures attainment and progress for each child through their education 
over time. 
 

1.2 It is important to recognise that outcomes for CIC for attainment in particular, are viewed as 
being ‘cohort specific’. CIC are recognised as a very transient group - some may have been 
supported by VSK for many years, whereas others may have been supported for just a year 
before they take exams. This makes year on year attainment analysis more complex and so it is 
important to acknowledge the progress indicators that reflect how children have performed in 
comparison to their own starting points and how VSK support has made positive impact since 
coming into care. 

 
 

2. End of Key stage 2 results Summer 2018 – Headlines 
 

 Kent CIC achieved a greater Combined Score than the National figure for CIC (CLA is the 

term used in Nexus data).  

 There is an improvement where 35.6% of Kent CIC achieved the Expected Standard at 

Combined in Summer 2017 this was 35.8% in summer 2018 

 Progress for Kent CIC in Reading from end of KS1 to End of KS2 was significantly better 

than the National CLA figure (-0.13 compared to -0.62) 

 A greater % of Kent CIC had a progress score of > or equal to 0 in Reading than learners 

in all Kent schools  

 Kent CIC achieved above the National CLA score in Writing and had a greater % of 

children achieving the ‘Higher’ indicator; Progress in Writing was almost in line with the 

National CLA figure. 

Page 91

Agenda Item 10



 

 Kent CIC achieved less than the National CLA figure for GPS (Grammar, Punctuation and 

Spelling) – and similarly in Maths, although a greater % of our children achieved the 

‘Higher’ indicator in Maths. Maths attainment and progress is confirmed as a specific area 

for developing Kent primary CIC attainment and progress. 

 
 

3. End of Key stage 4 Results Summer 2018 – Headlines 
 

 Kent CIC’s Average P8 (Progress 8) Measure was -1.09 and the National CLA figure was -

1.18 in Summer 2017. This means that our children made better progress than National 

CLA. In summer 2018 Kent CIC achieved an improved P8 score of -1.04 and the National 

CLA figure was -1.24. This reflects that the gap between Kent CIC and National CLA is 

widening in Kent CIC’s favour (from 0.09 to 0.2) 

 Kent CIC achieved a significantly better Attainment 8 score than the National CLA at the 

end of KS4 

 Additionally, Kent CIC achieved year on year trend improvements against last year in every 

indicator* and also the same against the National CLA data 

 In Maths, Kent CIC outperformed National CLA in Attainment and Progress Scores 

 In English, Kent CIC were in line with the National CLA figures for Attainment and Progress 

Scores 

 Kent CIC outperformed National CLA in EBACC and in ‘Other’ subject Attainment and 

Progress scores. 

 A greater % of Kent CIC achieved 5 or more GCSEs including English and Maths than 

the National CLA 

 

4. Additional Information - How do VSK measure and judge attainment and progress 
for each child?  

4.1 The new Kent Personal Education Plan (PEP) gathers attainment and progress data three 

times each academic year for each individual child/young person. Each child/young person’s 

attainment and progress is described using terms in line with national expectations e.g. 

Accelerated, Expected, Working Towards are some of the drop-down terms. This enables VSK 

Asst Heads to have a clear standardised report on all the children in their cohort and use it to 

effectively plan support for them. 

 

4.2 The new Kent PEP also tracks through time an individual child’s steps towards achieving 

Expected Standards in achievement and progress for National Indicators. This enables 

gaps/needs to be identified and action planning to be implemented as part of early 

intervention. The new Kent PEP enables reporting for each child at the end of their Key Stage 

and a longitudinal picture of each child’s achievement through their education to be built. 

 

5. Summary 
 

5.1 Kent are leading the way in Progress 8. The gap between Kent CIC and National CLA has 
actually widened at the end of Key stage 4 with not only better progress scores for our children 
but an improving gap over the last 2 years (not a narrowing of the gap). 

 
5.2 In KS2 there are some remarkable achievements for our children, for example where a greater 

% of Kent CIC had a progress score of > or equal to 0 in Reading than learners in all Kent 
schools.  
 

Page 92



 

5.3 Gap and trend analysis indicates a need for VSK to develop an increased strategic focus on 
Maths attainment and progress at end of Key Stage 2 as a next step. A Task and Finish Group 
has recently been created for this purpose. 

 
 

6. Recommendation: The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to NOTE the work of the 
Virtual School Kent in promoting the education achievement and progress of its children and 
young people in care. 

  

  

7. Background Documents 
 None 
 
8. Contact Details 
 
 Report Author 
 Tony Doran 
 Headteacher VSK 
 03000 414871 
 Tony.Doran@kent.gov.uk  
 
  Lead Director 
  Sarah Hammond 
  Director of Integrated Children’s Services – East (Social Work Lead) 
  03000 411488 
        Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 93

tel:03000%20414871
mailto:Tony.Doran@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk


 

Appendix of results for summer 2018 
END OF KEY STAGE 2 
Attainment - Combined Measure 
 
Performance 
for each group 
against 
indicator 

Reading, Writing and 
Maths Combined - % 
achieving Expected 

Reading, Writing and Maths Combined – % achieving 
Higher than Expected 

KENT CIC 35.8 4.5 

NATIONAL 
CLA 

35 2 

 
 
Individual Measures 
Performance 
for each 
group 
against 
indicator 

READING - 
% achieving 

Expected or 
above 

READING - 
% achieving 

Higher than 
Expected 

WRITING 
(Teacher 
Assessed) 
% 
achieving 
Expected or 
above 

WRITING 
(Teacher 
Assessed) % 
achieving 
Greater 
Depth 

GPS 
% 
achieving 
Expected 
or above 

GPS 
% 
achieving 
Higher 
than 
Expected 

MATHS - 
% 
achieving 
Expected 
or above 

MATHS 
% 
achieving 
Higher than 
Expected 

KENT CIC 47.9 16.9 49.3 7.5 38 9.9 38 9.9 

NATIONAL 
CLA 

51 14 49 6 50 14 47 8 

(GPS - Grammar, Punctuation, Spelling) 
 

Progress Measures 
Performance 
for each 
group against 
indicator 

Cohort 
size 

READING  
% Progress 

Score > or 
equal to 0 

READING 
Average 
Progress 
Score 

WRITING 
% Progress 
Score > or 
equal to 0 

WRITING 
Average 
Progress 
Score 

MATHS 
% Progress 
Score > or 
equal to 0 

MATHS 
Average 
Progress 
Score 

KENT CIC 71 53.3 -0.13 44.4 -0.92 45 -1.78 

NATIONAL CLA 3110 50 -0.62 50 -0.82 48 -0.76 

 
 
END OF KEY STAGE 4 
Overall Measures for Attainment and Progress 

Performance for each 
group against indicator 

Cohort size Average A8 
(Attainment 8) 

Average P8 (Progress 8) 

KENT CIC 146 20.1 -1.04 

NATIONAL CLA 5230 18.7 -1.24 

 
 
English and Maths 
Performance 
for each group 
against 
indicator 

ENGLISH 
Average 
Attainment 
Score 

ENGLISH 
Average 
Progress Score 
 

MATHS 
Average 
Attainment Score 

MATHS 
Average Progress 
Score 

ENGLISH + MATHS 
- % achieving Grade 
5-9 

KENT CIC 4.1 -1.38 4.1 -0.79 8.9 

NATIONAL CLA 4.2 -1.39 3.9 -0.98 8.0 

 
EBacc and ‘Other’ 
Performance for 
each group 
against indicator 

EBACC 
Average 
Attainment 
Score 

EBACC Average 
Progress Score 
 

OTHER 
Average 
Attainment 
Score 

OTHER 
Average Progress 
Score 

% achieving a Grade 
5-9 in 5 or more 
subjects including 
English + Maths 

KENT CIC 5.3 -1.02 6.6 -1.05 16.4 

NATIONAL CLA 4.8 -1.28 5.9 -1.38 15 

 

Page 94


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 29 May 2019 (Takeover Day)
	5 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member
	6 Challenge Card Update
	7 Performance Scorecard for Children in Care
	Item 7 - Appendix A - Corporate Parenting Scorecard - Apr 2019

	8 Kent Fostering Service Annual Report 2018 / 2019 & Kent Fostering Service Business Plan 2019
	Item 8 - Appendix - Kent Fostering Service Annual Report 2019

	9 Review of Corporate Parenting Pilot Scheme: KCC acting as a rent guarantor for Care Leavers including accommodation types
	10 Narrowing the attainment gap between Children in Care and their peers

